brought to you by I CORE

Technical University of Denmark



EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food and feed (2011 update)

EFSA publication; Hald, Tine

Link to article, DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2497

Publication date: 2011

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link back to DTU Orbit

Citation (APA):

EFSA publication (2011). EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food and feed (2011 update). Parma, Italy: European Food Safety Authority. (The EFSA Journal; No. 2497, Vol. 9(12)). DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2497

DTU Library

Technical Information Center of Denmark

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- · You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food and feed (2011 update)¹

EFSA on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ)^{2, 3}

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Parma, Italy

ABSTRACT

EFSA is requested to assess the safety of a broad range of biological agents (including microorganisms and viruses) in the context of notifications for market authorisation as sources of food and feed additives, enzymes and plant protection products. The qualified presumption of safety (QPS) assessment was developed by EFSA for its own use to provide a generic risk assessment approach applicable across EFSA's scientific Panels, for biological agents notified for intentional use in the whole food chain. The safety of unambiguously defined biological agents at the highest taxonomic unit that is appropriate for the purpose for which an application is intended and the completeness of the body of knowledge are assessed. Identified safety concerns for a taxonomic unit are where sensible reflected as 'qualifications' when a recommendation for the QPS list is given. The list of QPS recommended biological agents is reviewed and updated annually. Therefore, the only valid list is the one in the most recent scientific opinion. The 2011 update reviews microorganisms previously assessed including bacteria, yeasts, filamentous fungi and viruses used for plant protection purposes and confirms the previous recommendations. The anamorph yeast form Phaffia rhodozyma of Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous was included on the QPS list and to the qualification for yeasts 'absence of resistance to antimycotics used for medical treatment of yeast infections', the sentence was added that 'in the case of Saccharomyces cerevisiae this qualification applies for yeast strains able to grow above 37 °C'. The body of knowledge of filamentous fungi and enterococci was updated and their ineligibility for the QPS list confirmed.

© European Food Safety Authority, 2011

KEY WORDS

Safety, QPS, bacteria, yeast, fungi, virus

Suggested citation: EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food and feed (2011 update). EFSA Journal 2011;9(12):2497. [82 pp.] doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2497. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal

On request from EFSA, Question No EFSA-Q-2011-00070, adopted on 7 December 2011.

² Panel members: John Daniel Collins, Birgit Noerrung, Herbert Budka, Olivier Andreoletti, Sava Buncic, John Griffin, Tine Hald, Arie Havelaar, James Hope, Günter Klein, James McLauchlin, Christine Müller-Graf, Kostas Koutsoumanis, Christophe Nguyen-The, Luisa Peixe, Miguel Prieto Maradona, Antonia Ricci, John Sofos, John Threlfall, Ivar Vågsholm and Emmanuel Vanopdenbosch. Correspondence: biohaz@efsa.europa.eu

Acknowledgement: The Panel wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food or feed (2011 update): Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Florence Richard Forget, Günter Klein, Tine Licht, Peixe Luisa, Christophe Nguyen-The, Amparo Querol, Ulf Thrane, Just M. Vlak and Atte von Wright for the preparatory work on this scientific opinion and, the hearing expert: Malcolm Richardson, and EFSA staff: Renata Leuschner for the support provided to this scientific opinion.



SUMMARY

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) asked the Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) to deliver a Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents (microorganisms and viruses) intentionally added to food or feed (2011 update). The question included five specific tasks.

The first required the preparation of an update of the list of biological agents notified to EFSA for safety assessment. This should be a starting point for identifying new taxonomic units for review under the QPS assessment. Only those taxonomic units relevant to current legal requirements in the context of notification to EFSA for intentional use in feed and/or food or as sources of food and feed additives, enzymes and plant protection products shall be included. The list was updated with the notifications received where applicable by EFSA Panels and Units since the last review.

The second aspect was concerned with an annual review of the list of biological agents recommended for the QPS list. Where appropriate new taxonomic units should be assessed for their suitability for an inclusion in the QPS list, and taxonomic units previously assessed should be reviewed where new information has become available. The information provided in the previous opinion should be updated where appropriate.

The BIOHAZ Panel confirmed all taxonomic units previously recommended for the QPS list. The information of the previous opinion was updated for the taxonomic units on the QPS list. The notifications were assessed and no new recommendations for the QPS list were made.

An assessment of three new bacterial species (Ensifer adhaerens and Ensifer fredii, Ketogulonicigenium vulgare, Clostridium butyricum), a new yeast species (Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans) and several additional fungi species (Ampelomyces quisqualis, Ashbya gossypii, Aspergillus aculeatus, Trichoderma asperellum, Trichoderma longibrachiatum for enzyme production, Trichoderma viride for enzyme production) was performed but these species were not included on the QPS list.

Phaffia rhodozyma the imperfect form of *Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous* was included on the QPS recommended list. In accordance with the most recent taxonomic revision of yeasts, the new name of *Pichia jadinii* was changed to *Lindnera jadinii*.

Tasks three and four required, for the taxonomic units included in the QPS recommended list, a review and update of knowledge concerning antimicrobial resistance and a review of the qualifications. The information of the previous opinion was updated by the BIOHAZ Panel for bacteria and the qualification on antimicrobial resistance was confirmed.

For the yeast the knowledge on antimycotic resistance was updated and the qualification 'on absence of resistance to antimycotics used for medical treatment of yeast infections' was complemented by the sentence 'in the case of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* this qualification applies for yeast strains able to grow above 37 °C'. This qualification is only relevant if viable yeasts are intentionally introduced into the food chain and it was restricted to those yeast species for which information on antifungal susceptibility exists.

The final aspect included a review of the body of knowledge for filamentous fungi and enterococci. The BIOHAZ Panel updated the knowledge of filamentous fungi notified for EFSA. Although numerous data, published since the 2010 QPS opinion, have contributed to partially fulfil gaps of knowledge, too many unknowns remain in 2011 to allow a filamentous fungus to be qualified as QPS. Enterococci cannot be considered for the QPS list based on the current scientific knowledge.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	•		
		tents	
	_	as provided by EFSA	
		erence as provided by EFSA	
Ass	essment.		8
1.		ection	
1	.1. Q	PS an assessment approach for use within EFSA	8
1	.2. E	xperience of using the QPS approach within EFSA	9
1	.3. R	eference to QPS in the scientific literature	9
2.	Method	dology	10
	2.1.1.	Taxonomy	10
	2.1.2.	Qualification regarding antimicrobial resistance in bacteria	12
3.	Gram- _J	positive non-sporulating bacteria	12
	3.1.1.	Antimicrobial resistance aspects of QPS lactic acid bacteria in general	12
	3.1.2.		
	3.1.3.	Corynebacteria	13
	3.1.4.	Enterococcus species	13
	3.1.5.	Lactobacillus species	14
	3.1.6.	Lactococcus species	15
	3.1.7.	Leuconostoc species	16
	3.1.8.	Pediococcus species	16
	3.1.9.	•	
	3.1.10.	Dairy propionic acid bacteria	17
		Streptococcus thermophilus	
4.		positive spore forming bacteria	
		Bacillus species	
		Clostridium species	
5.		negative bacteria	
	5.1.1.	· ·	
	5.1.2.	v 1	
6.			
•	6.1.1.		
		Trichosporon	
	6.1.3.	*	
7.		ntous fungi	
	7.1.1.	Ampelomyces	
	7.1.2.	Ashbya	
	7.1.3.	Aspergillus species	
	7.1.4.		
	7.1.5.		
	7.1.6.	Blakeslea	
	7.1.7.	Coniothyrium minitans	
	7.1.8.	Duddingtonia flagrans	
	7.1.9.	Fusarium species	
		Gliocladium catenulatum	
		Lecanicillium muscarium	
		Metarhizum anisopliae	
		Paecilomyces lilacinus	
		Penicillium species	
		Phlebiopsis gigantea	
	/.1.10.	Pseudozyma flocculosa	28



7.1.17. Pythium oligandrum	28
7.1.18. Trichoderma species	
7.1.19. Verticillium alboatrum	29
7.1.20. Conclusions on filamentous fungi	30
7.2. Viruses used for plant protection	30
7.2.1. Potyviridae	
7.2.2. Baculoviridae	30
References	36
Appendix	49
A. Microbial species from previous notifications and as notified to EFSA	40



BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY EFSA

A wide variety of bacterial and fungal species are used in food and feed production, either directly or as a source of additives or food enzymes. Some of these have a long history of apparent safe use, while others are less well understood and may represent a risk for consumers. Experience has shown that there is a need for a tool for setting priorities within the risk assessment of those microorganisms used in the production of food/feed which are captured by present legislation and consequently the subject of a formal safety assessment.

In 2002/3 a working group consisting of members of the former Scientific Committees on Animal Nutrition, Food and Plants of the European Commission proposed the introduction for selected microorganisms of a Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS)⁴.

In April 2003, responsibility for the safety assessments of food/feed undertaken by the Scientific Committees of the Commission formally passed to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). Shortly after EFSA asked its own Scientific Committee to consider whether the approach to safety assessment of microorganisms proposed in the QPS document could be used to harmonise approaches to the safety assessment of microorganisms across the various EFSA scientific panels.

The Scientific Committee concluded that QPS as a concept could provide a generic approval system for use within EFSA that could be applied to all requests received for the safety assessments of microorganisms deliberately introduced into the food chain⁵. The benefits of the introduction of QPS would be a more transparent and consistent approach across the EFSA panels and the potential to make better use of resources by focussing on those organisms which presented the greatest risks or uncertainties. The Scientific Committee reviewed the range and numbers of microorganisms likely to be the subject of an EFSA Opinion and published a list of microorganisms recommended for QPS⁶.

The Scientific Committee recommended that a QPS approach should be implemented across EFSA and applied equally to all safety considerations of microorganisms that EFSA is required to assess. In reaching its conclusion on the value of QPS as an assessment tool, the Scientific Committee recognised that there would have to be continuing provision for reviewing and modifying the list of organism given QPS recommendation. They recommended that the EFSA via its Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) should take prime responsibility for this and should review the existing QPS list and any additions at least annually. Reviews may occur more frequently as necessary but there should be a formal requirement that even when no changes are proposed, a statement should be made annually that QPS recommendation is being maintained for the published list.

⁴ See http://ec.europa.eu/food/fs/sc/scf/out178_en.pdf

⁵ See www.efsa.europa.eu/en/science/sc committee/sc opinions/972.html

⁶ See www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/587.htm



In the first annual QPS review and update⁷, the existing list of QPS microorganisms was reviewed and EFSA's initial experience in applying the QPS approach was described. In addition, following the identification of antimicrobial resistance as a universal qualification of safety in the previous Opinions on QPS, the issue was addressed in line with the opinion developed by the BIOHAZ Panel⁸ on 'Foodborne antimicrobial resistance as a biological hazard', and related documents^{9,10,11} of other EFSA Panels. The potential application of the QPS approach to microbial plant protection products was discussed in the most recent reviews ^{12,13}.

The 2009 update⁹ reviews the previously assessed microorganisms including bacteria, yeasts and filamentous fungi and assesses several additional notifications concerning gram-positive and gramnegative bacteria and yeasts. *Lactobacillus cellobiosus*, *Lactobacillus collinoides*, *Propionibacterium acidopropionici* and *Oenococcus oeni* were included in the QPS list. No filamentous fungi were included because of potential production of toxic metabolites in line with previous QPS assessments³. For the first time viruses were assessed. Insect viruses (Baculovirideae) and in the case of zucchini yellow mosaic viruses the Potyvirideae family as the highest possible taxonomic unit were added to the QPS list. Bacteriophages were considered as not appropriate for the QPS list. A potential presence of antimycotic resistance of yeasts referred to on the QPS list was considered. It was concluded that yeast strains resistant to antimycotics used for treatment of infections in humans might be of public health concern.

In the last QPS update in 2010¹³ the previously assessed microorganisms including bacteria, yeasts, filamentous fungi and viruses used for plant protection purposes were reviewed and the QPS recommendations of the previous year were confirmed. Qualifications, intended to exclude potential safety concerns, relating to the agents recommended for the QPS list were also reviewed, clarified and updated where necessary. Specific sections dealing with antibiotic resistance relevant for QPS recommended microorganisms were included. The methodology used for carrying out the annual review of the list of QPS recommended biological agents was detailed. A list of microbial species from previous notifications and as notified to EFSA, annexed in this opinion, included information on taxonomic units which are or are not recommended for the QPS list with the rational for this decision. This list of notifications aims to summarize and maintain important information for future assessments and updates and is intended to be updated annually.

-

Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Biological Hazards on a request from EFSA on the maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed. The EFSA Journal (2008) 923, 1-48.

Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Biological Hazards on a request from EFSA on foodborne antimicrobial resistance as a biological hazard. The EFSA Journal (2008) 765, 1-87.

⁹ Technical guidance prepared by the Scientific Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) on the update of the criteria used in the assessment of bacterial resistance to antibiotics of human or veterinary importance. The EFSA Journal (2008) 732, 1-15.

Guidance Document of the Scientific Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms for the Risk Assessment of Genetically Modified Microorganisms and their Derived Products Intended for Food and Feed Use. The EFSA Journal (2006) 374, 1-115.

EFSA, 2010. Public consultation on: "Guidance on the risk assessment of genetically modified microorganisms and their food and feed products". Published on EFSA's website: 29 November, 2010; deadline: 24 January, 2011. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/consultations/call/gmo101129.htm

Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) on the maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed (2009 update). The EFSA Journal (2009), 7(12): 1431

Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food or feed (2010 update). EFSA Journal 2010; 8(12):1944



TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY EFSA

EFSA requests the BIOHAZ Panel to:

- 1. Preparation of an update of the list of biological agents notified to EFSA for safety assessment. This should be a starting point for identifying new taxonomic units for review under the QPS assessment. Only those taxonomic units relevant to current legal requirements in the context of notification to EFSA for intentional use in feed and/or food or as sources of food and feed additives, enzymes and plant protection products shall be included.
- 2. Annual review of the list of biological agents recommended for the QPS list. Where appropriate new taxonomic units should be assessed for their suitability for an inclusion on the QPS list, and taxonomic units previously assessed should be reviewed where new information has become available. The information provided in the previous opinion should be updated where appropriate.
- 3. Review and update of knowledge concerning antimicrobial resistance in taxonomic units recommended for the QPS list.
- 4. Review of the qualifications for taxonomic units included in the QPS recommended list.
- 5. Review of the body of knowledge for filamentous fungi and enterococci.



ASSESSMENT

1. Introduction

A wide variety of microorganisms are intentionally added at different stages into the food chain, either directly or as a source of additives or enzymes. In this context, approximately 100 species of microorganisms have been expected to be referred to EFSA for a safety assessment. The majority are the result of notifications for market authorisation as sources of food and feed additives, food enzymes and plant protection products received by EFSA.

The purpose of the present Opinion is to review the list of previously Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) recommended biological agents which was last established in 2010 (EFSA, 2010). The QPS approach was developed by the Scientific Committee to provide a generic concept to prioritise and to harmonise risk assessment of microorganisms intentionally introduced into the food chain within EFSA in support of the respective Scientific Panels and Units in the frame of authorisations (EFSA, 2007). The list, first established in 2007 is to be reviewed annually (EFSA, 2007). Taxonomic units were included in the QPS list either following notifications to EFSA or following proposals made during a public consultation in 2005 by stakeholders, even if they were not yet notified to EFSA (EFSA, 2005).

1.1. QPS an assessment approach for use within EFSA

QPS as a concept could provide a generic approval system for use within EFSA that could be applied to all requests received by EFSA for the safety assessments of microorganisms deliberately introduced into the food chain. Its introduction would make the risk assessment approach more transparent across the EFSA Scientific Panels and Units. It would aid the consistency of assessment and make better use of resources by focusing on those organisms which present the greatest risks or uncertainties (EFSA, 2005).

In the QPS concept a safety assessment of a defined taxonomic unit is considered independently of any particular specific notification in the course of an authorisation process. If the taxonomic unit does not raise any safety concerns, or if existing safety concerns can be clearly defined as specific qualifications to ensure their absence (exclusion) in the context of a specific notification, a particular taxonomic unit could be recommended for the QPS list. Subsequently, any specific representative of a QPS proposed taxonomic unit, would not need to undergo a further safety assessment other than to satisfy any of the qualifications specified if applicable. Representatives of groups that fail to satisfy a qualification would be considered unfit for the QPS list and would remain subject to a full safety assessment, in the frame of a notification within the responsible EFSA Scientific Panel (EFSA, 2007).

The QPS concept does not address hazards linked to the formulation or processing of the products based on biological agents added into the food or feed chain. These aspects are assessed, where applicable, separately by the EFSA Panel responsible for assessing the notification.

Concerning microorganisms discussed in previous Opinions, the continuously evolving body of knowledge possibly reveals new information that could lead to a modification of the list of QPS recommended taxonomic units, for example to an ex- or inclusion of taxonomic units on the list. An assessment of taxonomic units, not previously considered for the QPS list, and for which representatives are notified to EFSA is also discussed. These include, beside microorganisms, viruses used in the context of plant protection and bacteriophages. Consequently, the QPS 2011 update will review these biological agents. Biological agents intended for usages outside the remit of EFSA, and biological agents which have not been notified to EFSA, are not considered in this Opinion.



In 2008 antimicrobial resistance was introduced as a possible safety concern for the assessment of the inclusion of bacterial species in the QPS list (EFSA, 2008a). In the 2009 and 2010 Opinions (EFSA, 2009, 2010) a qualification regarding absence of antimycotic resistance for yeast was introduced. The qualifications are reviewed and discussed in the present Opinion.

In accordance with the recommendation by the Scientific Committee that the QPS concept should be implemented within EFSA where relevant, an impact assessment of the QPS system by EFSA Units in the frame of authorisations and its quotation in the scientific literature is provided.

1.2. Experience of using the QPS approach within EFSA

The QPS approach has proved to be a useful tool to harmonise and prioritise safety assessment within EFSA and is appreciated by both assessors and applicants. The QPS recommended list was mainly used by the EFSA's Panel on Additives and Products of Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP). If a biological agent is recommended for the QPS list this covers in their assessment as well safety for consumers, animals and the environment. Neither safety of users handling the product nor genetic modifications are taken into account. In the respective FEEDAP Opinions dealing with QPS recommended microorganisms a standard sentence is included that the active agent in question is considered by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) to be suitable for the Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) approach to safety assessment. Therefore, no assessment of safety for the target species, consumer and the environment is required. Until 7th October 2011, the QPS approach has been applied by FEEDAP, in the assessment of 20 dossiers out of a total of 22 published opinions concerned with a safety assessment of microorganisms as feed additives (EFSA, 2011a-t).

The annual QPS updates provide relevant new information from the literature for biological agents currently under peer-review which, if showing more critical or adverse effects, will be taken into account during the process of the peer-review or in the EFSA conclusion. When a microorganism is approved under Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 (Official Journal of the European Union, 2009), a cycle of 10 to 15 years is foreseen for the revision of the dossier including new information according to the regulatory framework. This shows the usefulness of the QPS approach as a mean of regularly updating the body of knowledge on taxonomic units of importance for EFSA Panels and Units, even if they are not on the QPS list. Hence, the annual update of the body of knowledge concerning fungi is appreciated by the Pesticide Unit.

Biological agents recommended for the QPS list and proposed as plant protection products (under the Directive 91/414/EC (Official Journal, 1991) could be exempt from certain data requirements such as oral toxicity data. However, the QPS recommendation does not address other risks, specifically risks for the user and risks for the environment, which have to be assessed specifically for plant protection products according to the Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 (Official Journal of the European Union, 2009). The activity of maintenance of the QPS list has also been communicated to the Pesticide Steering Committee in March 2011.

1.3. Reference to QPS in the scientific literature

Since the publication of the EFSA 2010 Opinion (EFSA, 2010) which cited and discussed references to the QPS approach in the scientific literature, additional references were made to the concept. Those published by the end of July 2011 were collected. Some publications refer to documents which seem to make reference to other documents than those published by EFSA (Delorme et al., 2010; Forssten et al., 2011a; b; Izawa et al., 2011;), others refer to initial QPS documents published by EFSA (reports and opinion up to 2007) rather than to the recently updated QPS opinions (Aureli et al., 2011; Ayeni et al., 2011; Cintas et al., 2011; Doyle and Erickson, 2011; Engel et al., 2011; Kneifel, 2011; Mayrhofer et al., 2011; Moslehi-Jenabian et al., 2010; Salazar et al., 2011; Saxelin et al., 2011; Seitter et al., 2011; Talon and Leroy, 2011) while some refer to more recent QPS opinions as of 2008



(Chanos and Williams, 2011; Chenoll et al., 2010; Clementi and Aquilanti, 2011; Cousin et al., 2011; Ferreira et al., 2011; Johnsson Holmsberg, 2011; Klein, 2011a; Meieregger et al., 2011; Ouwehand et al., 2011; Patel et al., 2010; Sundh and Melin, 2011).

The list of QPS recommended biological agents is reviewed and updated annually therefore the only valid list is the one from the most recent scientific opinion.

Other publications appear to mention the QPS assessment without any reference (Sanders and Levy, 2011; Schroeder et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2011) and some of these seem to suggest a change of QPS recommendations such as for example for *Streptococcus thermophilus* (La Gioia et al., 2011). Fjelsted and Ehlers (2011) specifically discuss the QPS approach as a tool to support the registration process of biological control agents used in agriculture. It should be noted that the QPS approach is used for risk assessment only within EFSA.

Few publications refer to the QPS assessment in analogy with the Generally Recognised As Safe (GRAS) concept used in the United States (Ladero et al., 2011; Pilet and Leroi, 2011; Zago et al., 2011) and it has to be clearly emphasised in that the QPS assessment is different in its overall aim and use.

2. Methodology

A literature review was carried out for each taxonomic unit that was notified to EFSA either for the QPS Opinions in 2007, 2008a, 2009 and 2010. QPS recommended taxonomic units (Table 1) and those which represent an important part of the notifications are annually reviewed. The time period of the review covered is the beginning of June 2009 until 15 April 2011 for the QPS 2011 update. Databases searched are specified in the specific sections. Keywords used are equally specified in the specific section however some common keywords such as the taxonomic unit in combination with 'toxin', 'disease', 'infection', 'clinical', 'virulence', 'antimicrobial/antibiotic/antimycotic resistance', 'safety', 'risk', 'abortion', 'urinary', 'mastitis', 'syndrome', 'vaginitis' and the animal categories 'poultry', 'chicken', 'hen', 'broiler', 'turkey', 'fowl', 'piglet', 'pig', 'calf', 'calves', 'cattle', 'cow', 'fish' and 'salmon' were generally applied. Relevant studies were evaluated, reported and discussed.

2.1.1. Taxonomy

2.1.1.1. Bacterial taxonomy

Taxonomy and nomenclature of bacteria is covered by the International Code of Nomenclature of Bacteria (Anonymous, 1992). New taxonomic units or alteration to the taxonomy and nomenclature are published in the International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology (IJSEM). In this journal a list appears, where all validly published taxonomic units are listed in the Notification List, i.e. the Approved List of Bacterial Names. Validly published are all taxonomic units, which are published in the IJSEM. Taxonomic units that were published outside the IJSEM are called effectively published. They appear after notification by the authors in a Validation List. Also changes in nomenclature are listed separately. These can be spelling errors in the original description or decisions of the Judicial Commission. A comprehensive and uptodate presentation of the current taxonomy and nomenclature of bacteria is given on the following website: LPSN (List of Prokaryotic names with Standing in Nomenclature Formerly List of Bacterial names with Standing in Nomenclature (LBSN) (Anonymous, 2011).

2.1.1.2. Yeast taxonomy

Rules for taxonomy of the yeasts fall under the authority of the International Code of Botanical Nomenclature which represents the official reference to validate yeast species. The most recent



version of the Code (McNeill et al., 2006) was adopted at the Seventeenth International Botanical Congress, Vienna, Austria, 2005. The following is a brief discussion of the Botanical Code as it applies to yeasts. Recently, the fifth edition of 'The Yeasts, a Taxonomic Study' (Kurtzman et al., 2011) represents the latest revision of the yeast taxonomy and has incorporated the consensus view of the International Code of Botanical Nomenclature. Currently, there are 149 genera and nearly 1500 species. The application of gene sequence analysis is largely responsible for the increase in the number of taxa.

2.1.1.3. Fungi taxonomy

As of now the nomenclature and taxonomy of fungi is covered by the International Code of Botanical Nomenclature (ICBN) updated in 2005 (McNeill et al., 2006). New taxa or new taxonomic opinions are published in the international scientific literature following the rules of ICBN. Due to an intensive promotion by leading mycologists and International Mycological Association (IMA) it is now practice to submit new taxonomic units and changes (http://www.mycobank.org) to avoid duplication of names and, in part, a quality check of the formalities. MycoBank is also a useful source for validity of published names, however information on synonyms is not complete as it is a matter of subjectivity. For a few genera lists of currently accepted names in use are available, but these have no official status. Article 59 in ICBN permits dual nomenclature of pleiomorphic fungi, which has caused some frustrations, as there is no logical link between two nomenclatural entities, except the organism, the fungus. The development in molecular data has proposed a new view on many anamorph-teleomorph connections and has also initiated an action to eliminate the dual nomenclature in mycology, however not all mycologists support this. The action towards one fungus should only has one name is presented by Hawksworth et al. (2011) and will be debated at the Botanical Congress August 2011.

2.1.1.4. Virus taxonomy

The taxonomy and nomenclature of viruses is the responsability of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV, www.ictv.online; Anonymous, 2010). Every three years an update is made based on proposals of working groups after adoption by the Executive Committee. The most recent update is from November 2011 (King et al., 2011). Virus taxonomy is based on shared characteristics such as (i) the type of nucleic acid (RNA or DNA), (ii) the structure of the nucleic acid (single-stranded or double stranded RNA or DNA), (iii) the polarity of the nucleic acid (positive stranded = translatable into proteins; negative stranded = nontranslatable into proteins) and (iv) the form of the virus (isometric, rod-shaped, filamentous or pleiomorph). In addition to these characters, the replication strategy of the viruses is also taking into account and contributes to their taxonomic position (Baltimore, 1971; Baltimore, 1974). Viruses are organized in orders (-virales), families (-viridae), genera (-virus) and species (-virus) by virtue of shared characteristics as described above. In contrast to organisms viruses do not have a common ancestor; therefore phylogenetic information is only partially useful in directing the taxonomy of viruses.

Plant virus taxonomy

Plant viruses cause disease in plants and many of these viruses are transmitted by vectors (insects, nematodes, fungi). The large majority of plant viruses contain positive stranded (= directly translatable) RNA as genetic information. About 1,000 plant virus species have been recognized and accommodated into two orders and 20 families (Mayo, 1999; www.ictvonline.org; Anonymous, 2010).

Baculovirus taxonomy

Baculoviruses are large DNA viruses occurring in members of the insect orders Lepidoptera (moths and butterflies), Hymenoptera (sawflies) and Diptera (flies). The family *Baculoviridae* is subdivided



into four genera, *Alphabaculovirus*, *Betabaculovirus*, *Gammabaculovirus* and *Deltabaculovirus* (Jehle et al., 2006). Fourty-two baculoviruses have been recognized as a species (as of July 2011, www.ictvonline.org; Anonymous, 2010), but about 700 different baculoviruses have been described. Baculoviruses have a common ancestor assisting in the assignment of their taxonomic status.

2.1.2. Qualification regarding antimicrobial resistance in bacteria

The assessment of antimicrobial resistance in the frame of a specific notification is within the responsibility of the EFSA Scientific Panel or Unit which to which the notification was assigned. The QPS WG aims to provide general background information for their consideration and support. In particular, the generic qualification for all bacterial taxonomic units on the QPS recommended list that the strains should not harbour any acquired antimicrobial resistance genes to clinically relevant antibiotics (Table 1) is reviewed. A recent EFSA review concluded that for EFSA as a whole, the use of interpretative criteria and methods to define and monitor antimicrobial resistance have been harmonised and are reflected in EFSA's guidance documents. The use of harmonised methods and epidemiological cut-off values ensures the comparability of data over time at country level, and also facilitates the comparison of the occurrence of resistance between MSs (EFSA, 2011u).

Absence of acquired genes coding for antimicrobial resistance for QPS recommended bacterial taxonomic units is a generic qualification. Generally, it has been considered for the QPS approach that strains carrying acquired resistances should not be intentionally introduced into the food and feed chain. The scope and search for the review of antimicrobial resistance is to conduct a review of each taxonomic unit recommended for the QPS list as it was done last year. It was noticed during the last QPS update (EFSA, 2010) that the quality of the studies regarding antimicrobial resistance vary a lot. Following discussions, it seemed best to consider everything that is available and subsequently discuss potential week points in the available studies.

Suggested general search terms: susceptibility, resistance, antimicrobial, antibiotic. Additional search terms are related to acquired resistance genes in line with the generic qualification on 'not harbouring any acquired antimicrobial resistance genes'. These are: *tet*, *bla*, *vanA*, *vanB*, *vanD*, *vanE*, *vanG*, *vanL vanM*, *aac*, *aph*, *aad*, *arm*, *rmt*, *erm*, *lnu*, *vat*, *vga*, *ere*, *mef*, *mre*, *msr*, *mph*, *lin*, *lsa*, *cfr*, *sul*, *dhfr*, *cat*, *flo*, *qep*, *qnR*, *oqxAB*.

A point of reference for the update is the FEEDAP guidance document 'update of the criteria used in the assessment of bacterial resistance to antibiotics of human or veterinary importance' (EFSA, 2008b). This guidance document was a starting point and was used to subsequently fill any gaps during this review where possible. The list of antibiotics and the breakpoints are still valid. Focus shall be targeted towards: the presence of an acquired gene in relevant species, genera and if some new resistance mechanisms became known. New available information should be taken into consideration in this context.

3. Gram-positive non-sporulating bacteria

3.1.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects of QPS lactic acid bacteria in general

Antimicrobial resistance is also an issue in lactobacilli and other lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and should be assessed according to international standards and guidelines (e.g. ISO/DIS 10932/IDF223, 2010) and Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines (Anonymous, 2007)). For the purpose of QPS the FEEDAP guidance document (EFSA, 2008b) is of relevance.

There are several reviews and studies describing the antibiotic resistance of *Lactobacillus* species as well as other LABs (Hummel et al., 2007; Kastner et al., 2006; Klare et al., 2007; Klein, 2011b; Liu et al., 2009; Zonenschain et al., 2009). Intrinsic resistance could be shown mainly for aminoglycosides, quinolones, and glycopeptides (Hummel et al., 2007; Klein, 2011b). Moreover, the transfer of



antibiotic resistance within LAB isolates from food has been recently studied (Nawaz et al., 2011; Toomey et al., 2010). Presence of genes coding for antibiotic resistances, such as *tet* (including *tet*(M), *tet*(S), *tet*(W), *tet*(K), and *tet*(L)); *erm* (including *erm*(A), *erm*(B), and *erm*(C)) (Hummel et al., 2007; Ammor et al., 2008) have been reported. This is a non-comprehensive list.

3.1.2. *Bifidobacterium* species

No case reports could be retrieved by literature search within Pubmed and the respective search terms. Only one report pointing on the relevance of *Bifidobacterium* spp. and also Scardovia and Parascardovia for severe early childhood caries (Kanasi et al., 2010) could be found on the clinical relevance of bifidobacteria. This is a confirmation of earlier reports for caries in general, but no specific taxonomic units within the bifidobacteria were identified. The relevance of bifidobacteria in the development of dental caries is comparable to lactobacilli and the same conditions apply as reported under section 3.1.5. Therefore, the QPS recommendation is confirmed.

3.1.2.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects regarding the qualification

A recent paper about 'medium level' tetracycline resistance in *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* showed the presence of *tet*(W) gene (Gueimonde et al., 2010). The *tet*(W) gene was associated with the tetracycline resistance in this subspecies. Several tet genes have been already described to be present in bifidobacteria, including *tet*(W) gene (Gueimonde et al., 2010). The relevance for *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* lies in the wide distribution of this species within food. There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.3. Corynebacteria

A literature review did not reveal new information about adverse health effects or on safety concerns since the last update (EFSA, 2010). The OPS recommendation has been confirmed.

3.1.3.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects regarding the qualification

While no actual antibiotic MIC determinations for *Corynebacterium glutamicum* appear to have been done, the antibiotic sensitivity of a strain used for amino acid production, has been tested using a disc method (Costa-Riu et al., 2003). The strain was sensitive to ampicillin, kanamycin, streptomycin, tetracycline, susceptible to gentamicin and resistant to norfloxacin, and chloramphenicol. However, the susceptibility test was not performed according to the methodology recommended by the CLSI guideline (Anonymous, 2007). There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.4. *Enterococcus* species

Enterococci are commensal bacteria of the gastrointestinal tract of humans and other mammals, and are frequently found as members of the bacterial communities of food fermentations. Taxonomy of this genus has evolved, and currently, more than 30 species have been described. Among these, *Enterococcus faecium* is the most encountered species in food fermentations, such as cheese, fermented vegetable and sausages. This microorganism is also intentionally introduced in the food chain as feed additive (animal probiotic), under a specific EU regulation which requires risk assessment by EFSA, or as food starter culture (Official Journal of the European Union, 2003).

Enterococcus faecium is also an important cause of infections in hospitalized or immunocompromised patients and the high prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in strains, limits the therapeutic



treatments. A new literature search within Pubmed, restricted to the last 12 month, confirmed this view with an increase number of reported infections casused by drug resistant *Enterococcus faecium*.

The assessment of *Enterococcus faecium* for QPS has been performed by EFSA in 2010 (EFSA, 2010), reaching the conclusion that a strain specific evaluation is necessary to assess the risk associated to the intentional use of enterococci in the food chain.

Available scientific data support the view that safety of *Enterococcus faecium* is a strain-related property, and that specific qualifications cannot be applied, therefore confirming the previous view that *Enterococcus faecium* should not be recommended for the QPS list.

3.1.4.1. Update of antibiotic resistance aspects

Enterococci show intrinsic resistance to several beta-lactams, low-levels of aminoglycosides, and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. Additional intrinsic resistances to lincosamides and vancomycin are characteristics of specific enterococcal species (Leclerq and Courvalin, 2005; Murray, 1990). Mobile genetic determinants conferring resistance to different classes of antibiotics such as aminoglycosides [aph(3')-III, and aac(6') and aph(2'') variants], β-lactams (bla, pbp5), glycopeptides (vanA/B/D/E/G/L/M), phenicols (cat genes) tetracyclines (tetO/L/K/S/U), and to macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramins group (ermA/B/C/F/T, lnuB, vatB/D/E, msrA/C/D, lsaA, vgaB and mefA) have been observed in enterococci from different sources, including in food producing animals and food strains (Cocconcelli et al., 2004; Freitas et al., 2011; Hegstad et al., 2010; Hummel et al., 2007; Rizzotti et al., 2005; Vignaroli et al., 2011).

3.1.5. *Lactobacillus* species

Since the 2010 update only few reports have been published concerning lactobacilli and clinical infections according to a PubMed search including 'clinical infection' and 'disease'. Additional search terms for lactobacilli are proposed: 'bacteremia', 'urinary tract infection', 'vaginal infection', 'gingivitis'.

One article from Turkey (Doğan and Baysal, 2010) detected a 'Lactobacillus acidophilus or Lactobacillus jensenii' strain in clinical specimen amongst other species in an immunocompromised patient. The clinical relevance of this isolate was not clear. In addition, the taxonomic identification was done with the API system and therefore no clear attribution to a taxonomic unit can be done. Several reports related to the well known association of lactobacilli with dental caries (Kneist et al., 2010; Mathias and Simionato, 2011; Nagarajappa and Prasad, 2010). Kneist et al. (2010) found five species from carious dentine: Lactobacillus paracasei subsp. paracasei, Lactobacillus paracasei subsp. tolerans, Lactobacillus rhamnosus, Lactobacillus gasseri, and Lactobacillus alimentarius. They concluded that Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Lactobacillus paracasei subsp. paracasei occurred in all caries progression stages, whilst the other species were found only sporadically. There is a connection to endocarditis via caries which has been reported on several occasions earlier. There is also a possibility of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) being involved in endocarditis after dental surgery (Noti et al., 2009). Caries is a multifactorial disease, including bacteria from the oral cavity, eating and drinking habits (high sugar amounts) and insufficient oral and dental hygiene (Takahashi and Nyvad, 2011). Bacteria involved change through different stages of caries proliferation. In the primary phase mainly mutans streptococci are involved, whereas in secondary caries with lesions already present also lactobacilli, bifidobacteria and other LAB are involved (Ito et al., 2011; Takahashi and Nyvad, 2011). The conclusions of these studies are that without bacteria caries development is not possible. LAB, however, are present in caries stages with predisposing factors such as lesions and insufficient dental hygiene. The origin of those LAB (if deriving from food or as autochthonous oral microflora) has not been studied so far. In conclusion, LAB are not the initial cause of these diseases



and they are present in the human organism as commensal microflora. This has no relevance for the QPS recommendation.

Doi et al. (2010) found *Lactobacillus paracasei* involved in a splenic abscess. But again as in previous similar case reports, the patient had an underlying disease and was immunocompromised. In a similar case with an immunocompromised patient (stem cell transplantation in a child) *L. rhamnosus* was found to be the causative agent for meningitis after recurrent episodes of bacteremia (Robin et al., 2010). Russo et al. (2010) isolated a presumptive *Lactobacillus casei* strain from a bacteraemia case, where heavy consumption of dairy products was involved in the case history. However, no strains from dairy products (mainly cheese) were isolated and compared to the clinical strain. The identification was most probably misinterpreted, as only a 16S rDNA sequence analysis was done, which matched equally to *Lactobacillus casei* and *Lactobacillus paracasei*. Therefore *Lactobacillus paracasei* seems to be the correct identification given the distribution of species in humans and dairy products. *Lactobacillus casei* does not naturally occur in such environments. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* can be associated with unexplained sustained bacteremia like in the TIPSS syndrome (tipsitis). This is a rare disease where *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* may be involved inter alia (Kochar et al., 2010).

A research including 'urinary tract infection' (UTI) revealed one review (Bernier et al., 2010) indicating a relatively higher risk for elderly women for urinary tract infections with *L. delbrueckii*. However, in general UTIs were reported seldom. The search term 'vaginal infection' did not reveal more cases.

In conclusion, there is no need to change the QPS recommendation of the previously recommended *Lactobacillus* species.

3.1.5.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects of lactic acid bacteria with regards to the qualification

Intrinsic resistance could be shown mainly for aminoglycosides, quinolones, and glycopeptides (Hummel et al., 2007; Klein, 2011b). Acquired resistance genes are also known, especially the following: tet (including tet(M), tet(O), tet(S), tet(W), tet(K), and tet(L)); erm (including erm(A), erm(B) and erm(C)) (Hummel et al., 2007; Ammor et al., 2008). This is a non-comprehensive list. There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.6. *Lactococcus* species

New human case reports related to infections caused by *Lactococcus lactis* have been published recently, including a liver abscess and empyema in an imunocompetent adult (Kim et al., 2010) and a bacteremia in an infant suffering from necrotizing enterocolitis and receiving total parentheral nutrition via silicone catether (Glickman et al., 2010) and an endocarditis in a middle aged man complicated by intracerebral haemorrhage and leading to the death of the patient (Lin et al., 2010). In all these cases the causative microorganism was typed as *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *cremoris*. In none of these cases a connection between consumption of raw milk or other dairy products (not even mother's milk in the infant case) was identified.

In a report from 2006 (Goyache et al., 2006) an infection by *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* in lungs, liver and spleen of five birds (one mallard, three shovelers, and one coot) obtained from a mass die-off of waterfowl in southwestern Spain has been described.

While these recent findings do not warrant any reconsideration of the QPS status of *Lactococcus lactis*, some further study on both human and veterinary clinical isolates should be considered to find out any possible strain specific factors that might contribute to the pathogenicity.



3.1.6.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects with regards to the qualification

According to the survey reported by Flórez et al. (2008) the lactococcal strains are generally susceptible to ampicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamicine and vancomycin, while intrinsically resistant to streptomycin. Occasional tetracycline resistances occur, associated, among others, with *tet*(S) and *tet*(M) genes. The findings do not contradict the MIC cut-off values proposed in the latest EFSA update of the antimicrobial resistance criteria (EFSA, 2008b). There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.7. *Leuconostoc* species

Three species of the genus *Leuconostoc*, *Leuconostoc citreum*, *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* and *Leuconostoc lactis*, were previously given a QPS recommendation. A fourth species, *L. pseudomesenteroides*, was considered unsuitable because of a limited body of knowledge on food and feed application and of its (rare) implication in opportunistic infections. Since 2010, a new report of three *Leuconstoc* infections in patients with malignancy, receiving intensive chemotherapy was published (Ishiyama et al., 2011). In none of the three cases the species was identified. In conclusion, the QPS recommendations of the three *Leuconostoc* species are confirmed.

3.1.7.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects with regards to the qualification

No new relevant information in the last year was published and the genus is covered by general section on lactic acid bacteria 3.1.1. There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.8. *Pediococcus* species

Bernabeu et al. (2011) report an association between *Pediococcus* species and liver abscess. The patient had a long history of Crohn's disease and this is a very rare complication, according to the literature search of the authors. Therefore this is another example of rare infections by *Pediococcus* species in case of underlying severe diseases and immunocompromised patients. The QPS recommendations for the *Pediococcus* species are confirmed.

3.1.8.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects with regards to the qualification

No new relevant information in the last year was published and the genus is covered by general section on lactic acid bacteria 3.1.1. There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.9. Oenococcus oeni

No case reports for clinical infections were found for *Oenococcus oeni*. The state of the previous EFSA opinion is still valid (EFSA, 2010). Therefore the QPS recommendation for *Oenococcus oeni* is maintained.

3.1.9.1. Antimicrobial resistance aspects with regards to the qualification

No new relevant information in the last year was published and the genus is covered by general section on lactic acid bacteria 3.1.1. There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.



3.1.10. Dairy propionic acid bacteria

A review revealed no new relevant information regarding human and animal infection which would require a reconsideration of the QPS recommendation of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* and *Propionibacterium acidopropionici*. Therefore, they remain on the list of microorganisms recommended for QPS.

3.1.10.1. Antimicrobial resistance in propionic acid bacteria with regards to the qualification

The data on the antibiotic resistance patterns following a search in the PubMed database using keywords "Propionibacterium" and "Antibiotic resistance" does not indicate new relevant studies on dairy strains. One publication on the probiotic aspects of propionic acid bacteria (Suomalainen et al., 2008), however, reports MICs of ampicillin, erythromycin, virginiamycin, gentamicin, streptomycin, kanamycin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, vancomycin, narasin, bacitracin and linezolid for four specific Propionibacterium freudenreichii strains determined with the microdilution method. The values obtained are in good agreement with the proposed EFSA breakpoints, although a larger panel of strains should be screened in order to get a final confirmation of the EFSA breakpoints (EFSA, 2008).

There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

3.1.11. Streptococcus thermophilus

No reports of clinical infections related to *Streptococcus thermophilus* were identified in scientific literature since 2009. Therefore, the QPS recommendation for this species is maintained.

3.1.11.1. Antimicrobial resistance of *Streptococcus thermophilus* with regards to the qualification

Although few scientific information is still available on the *Streptococcus thermophilus* susceptibility to clinically relevant antibiotics, recent papers have shown the occasional presence of acquired resistance genes in this dairy bacterium. *Streptococcus thermophilus* strains which are phenotypically resistant to erythromycin, tetracycline and streptomycin have been reported by Tosi et al. (2007). The presence of acquired resistance genes, the erythromycin resistance determinant *ermB* and the tetracycline-resistance genes *tet*(S), *tet*(M), and *tet*(L) were detected in dairy strains of *Streptococcus thermophilus* (Rizzotti et al., 2009). These resistances are covered by the general qualification on

antibiotic susceptibility. There is no new information that would require a modification in the

4. Gram-positive spore forming bacteria

qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

4.1.1. Bacillus species

Concerning *Bacillus* species include in the QPS list, the following notifications were received since the last QPS Opinion (Appendix A):

Bacillus amyloliquefaciens (Feed additive, enzyme production)

Bacillus amyloliquefaciens subsp plantarum (Pesticides)

Bacillus lentus (enzyme production)

Bacillus megaterium (production of vitamin C)

Bacillus pumilus (plant protection products)

Bacillus subtilis (production vitamin B₂ and enzyme production)



4.1.1.1. Update of the body of knowledge on safety concerns for *Bacillus* species on the QPS list

A search on the Web of Science from 2010 to end of April 2011 with any of the key words "toxin, enterotoxin, lipopeptide, peptide, disease, infection, virulence, abortion, mastitis, bacteremia, poisoning, hepatitis, necrosis, necrotizing, pneumonia, endophthalmitis, gangrene, endocarditis, urinary tract, meningitis, encephalopathy, parodontitis", combined with "Bacillus" (excluding cereus, anthracis and thuringiensis) retrieved 162 articles. This first search was completed by a second one with any of the key words "poultry, chicken, hen, broiler, turkey, fowl, piglet, pig, calf, calves, cattle, cow, fish, salmon" combined with "Bacillus" (excluding cereus, anthracis and thuringiensis) which found 64 articles. After examination of some of these articles, a third search combining "Bacillus" with "liver or hepatotoxic" identified 168 more articles.

All these articles were screened. Most were not relevant. Few (Coutte et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2011; Tabbene et al., 2011; Raaijmakers et al., 2010; Thasana et al., 2010) concerned the antifungal or antimicrobial activities of *Bacillus* species and indicated that at least part of the activity was due to the peptidolipides (e.g., surfactin, fengicin, iturin) which are also suspected of being involved in the rare foodpoisoning cases caused by *Bacillus* species other than *Bacillus cereus* (EFSA, 2008a). Such *Bacillus* strains producing these lipopeptides would not meet the qualification "Absence of toxigenic activity" specified for *Bacillus* species in the QPS approach.

One article (Lopez and Alippi, 2010) reports the characterisation of a *Bacillus megaterium* (a QPS *Bacillus* species) strain with the genes of the cytotoxin K and of the full enterotoxin HBL operon, two toxins involved in the virulence of the foodborne pathogen (and non QPS species) *Bacillus cereus*. The hemolysis pattern of this strain suggested the production of active HBL enterotoxin. The identification of the *Bacillus megaterium* strains, presented in Lopez and Alippi (2009), indicates that this was presumably not misidentified *Bacillus cereus*. The *cytK* and *hbl* genes were detected in the *Bacillus megaterium* strain by PCR. The sequence of the amplified PCR fragment would have been needed for a full confirmation. In any case, this strain of *Bacillus megaterium* would not meet the qualification "Absence of toxigenic activity" specified for *Bacillus megaterium*. Therefore, there is no need to change the QPS recommendation for *Bacillus megaterium*.

An infective arthritis with *Bacillus* species was reported (Wiedermann et al., 2010). However the infection was the results of an arthroscopy and had presumably no link with the food chain. No change to the position of *Bacillus* species in the QPS list is needed.

An acute hepatitis of a young adult was linked to the consumption of a dietary supplement (Krones et al., 2010) and the authors suspected toxigenic Bacillus isolated from the dietary supplement to have caused the disease. The two toxigenic strains were identified as one Bacillus cereus and one from the Bacillus subtilis group. The method used in this work to identify the strains (16S rDNA sequencing) is not able to distinguish all the strains within the Bacillus subtilis group. However, the species from the Bacillus subtilis group are on the QPS list, so it is possible that this hepatitis was at least partly caused by a *Bacillus* included in the QPS list. This paper refers to a previous report of several similar severe hepatotoxicity associated to the consumption of another dietary supplement contaminated with toxigenic Bacillus subtilis (Stickel et al., 2009). In the latter work, Bacillus cereus was not isolated from the dietary supplement and the B. subtilis strains were adequately identified using both 16S rDNA and gyrB sequences. In both works, the cytotoxins were detected in the supernatant of the strains grown in the laboratory, but not in the dietary supplements, indicating a likely infection of the patient by the Bacillus and production of the toxins in the patient, instead of an intoxination (i.e. production of the toxin in the food). However the works did not quantified the numbers of Bacillus present in the dietary supplements and Stickel et al. (2009) and Seff (2009) discuss a possible contribution of the supplement itself to the hepatotoxicity. In any case these two articles are the first reports of such severe disease possibly caused by ingestion of Bacillus subtilis related species or its toxins. These strains would be excluded from the QPS recommendation because of toxin formation



and would not meet the qualification "Absence of toxigenic activity" specified for *Bacillus* spp in the QPS approach. Therefore, there is no need to change the QPS recommendation for *Bacillus subtilis*.

4.1.1.2. Antimicrobial resistance among QPS *Bacillus* species with regards to the qualification

Few reports on antimicrobial resistance to relevant antibiotics among *Bacillus* species were published in the last year. Particularly of concern was the description in a swine *Bacillus* spp. of a plasmid encoding *ermB* and *cfr* gene (Dai et al., 2010). The *cfr* gene, previously described only in staphylococci, encode an RNA methyltransferase that affects an array of ribosomal antibiotics, including phenicols, oxazolidinone, lincosamides, pleuromutillins and streptogramin A (Long et al., 2006; Dai et al., 2010). Moreover, a chromosomally located *fexA* gene, encoding resistance to phenicols and associated with a defective Tn558 transposition was also identified. Remarkably, plasmidic and transposon structures associated with these genes are similar to the ones observed in staphylococci, streptococci and enterococci being worrisome the possibility of its dissemination to pathogenic human and animal isolates (Dai et al., 2010).

Tetracycline resistance genes tet(M) and tet(K) were previously described in some isolates of different environmental Bacillus species conferring resistance to tetracycline (Neela et al., 2009; Nikolakopoulou et al., 2008). Recently, a tetracyclin resistance gene tet(L) transferable to a Bacillus subtilis was observed in a Bacillus spp. strain isolated from a marine sponge Haliclona simulans (Phelan et al., 2011).

In conclusion, the available data reinforces the possibility of emergence of important resistance genes in members of the *Bacillus* genus, confirming the importance of the qualification regarding antimicrobial resistance in the QPS approach.

There is no new information that would require a modification in the qualification of the antimicrobial resistance.

4.1.2. *Clostridium* species

Clostridium butyricum was assessed this year for the first time.

4.1.2.1. Taxonomy

The genus *Clostridium* is composed by 202 different species that do not form a phylogenetically coherent group. Thus, Gram-positive, anaerobic rods forming endospore were originally assigned to this genus. A phylogenomic and comparative analyses made using data derived from sequenced clostridial genomes allowed to analyse the evolutionary relationships among species of *Clostridia* (Gupta and Gao, 2009). *Clostridium butyricum* is the type species of the genus.

4.1.2.2. Toxigenic potential of *Clostridium butyricum*

Strains of *Clostridium butyricum* are able to form botulinum neurotoxin type E, harbouring *BoNT/E* gene on a large plasmid (Hauser et al., 1992; Peck 2009). Toxigenic strains of this species were responsible for infantile botulism (Fenicia et al., 1999; Abe et al., 2008) and involved in foodborn intoxications. The gene coding for botulinum neurotoxin type E was detected only in a minority of *Clostridium butyricum* strains (Hauser et al., 1992). The body of knowledge on human and animal exposure to *Clostridium butyricum* is limited.

This information supports the view that safety of *Clostridium butyricum* is a strain-related property, therefore *Clostridium butyricum* should not be recommended for the QPS list.



4.1.2.3. Antimicrobial resistance aspects

A recent study reports the antibiotic susceptibility and genetic resistance determinants of *Clostridium* butyricum strains isolated from the faeces of infants (Ferraris et al., 2010). All the strains were susceptible to cefoxitin, imipenem, vancomycin, tigecycline, metronidazole, chloramphenicol and linezolid. Resistance was observed to clindamycin (100%), penicillin G, amoxicillin and piperacillin (15%), tetracycline (7.5%) and erythromycin (5%). The genetic basis of these resistances demonstrated that penicillin resistance was related to β -lactamase activity and that tetracycline resistance was due to tet(O) or tet(O/32/O) homologue genes.

5. Gram-negative bacteria

5.1.1. *Ensifer* species

This species was assessed this year for the first time.

5.1.1.1. Taxonomy

The genus *Ensifer* is a valid taxonomic unit as are also the species *Ensifer adhaerens* and *Ensifer fredii*. However, the genus *Sinorhizobium* (Chen et al., 1988) and its *Sinorhizobium morelense* (Wang et al., 2002) are a later synonym of *Ensifer adhaerens* (Anonymous, 2008; Casida, 1982; Young, 2003). Also the combination '*Sinorhizobium adhaerens*' has been cited in the literature (Casida, 1982; Willems et al., 2003). Therefore, case reports including these no longer valid synonyms should also be considered. *Ensifer fredii* has also been described as *Sinorhizobium fredii* or was refered to as belonging to the genus *Rhizobium* as *Rhizobium fredii*. Therefore, also in case of *Ensifer fredii* those invalid taxonomic combinations should be considered for literature research.

5.1.1.2. Safety assessment

Ensifer adhaerens was first characterized as a predator of bacteria (Casida, 1982; Germida et al., 1983). Species of the genus *Ensifer* are also legume symbionts forming root nodules and fixing nitrogen (Merabet et al., 2010; Rogel et al., 2001; Sawada et al., 2003).

'Ensifer' was searched as key words in the topic of articles on the Web of Sciences, from 1975 to 2011. 110 articles were found, all were screened. *Ensifer adhaerens* was first characterized as a predator of bacteria (Casida, 1982; Germida et al., 1983). No article mentioned human or animal safety concerns.

'Sinorhizobium' (Title) was combined with toxin or enterotoxin or lipopeptid or peptid, disease or infection or virulence or abortion or mastitis or bacteremia or poisoning or hepatitis or necrosis or necrotizing or pneumonia or endophthalmitis or gangrene or endocarditis or urinary tract or meningitis or encephalopathy or parodontitis (topic) in the Web of Sciences from 1975 to 2011.

108 articles were found. All were screened. No article mentioned a safety concern for human or animals. The reference to 'infection' referred to infection of plant tissues in the course of plant pathogens interactions for nodules formation.

Ensifer fredii was also referred to as *Rhizobium fredii*. '*Rhizobium fredii*' was used as search term for titles in the Web of Sciences, from 1975 to July 3rd 2011. 100 articles were retrieved. All were screened and dealt with symbiosis with plants. None reported safety concerns for human or animals.

'Rhizobium fredii' (title) was combined with toxin or enterotoxin or lipopeptid or peptid, disease or infection or virulence or abortion or mastitis or bacteremia or poisoning or hepatitis or necrosis or



necrotizing or pneumonia or endophthalmitis or gangrene or endocarditis or "urinary tract" or meningitis or encephalopathy or parodontitis" (topic) in the Web of Sciences from 1975 to July 3rd 2011. 62 articles were retrieved. All were screened and dealt with plant tissue infection for nodulating activity. None concern infection of human or animals.

In conclusion, the body of knowledge of these two species concerns the ecology in the soil and the interaction with the plant root and does not give information on safety in the food and feed chain. Therefore, both species cannot be recommended for the QPS list.

5.1.1.3. Antimicrobial resistance aspects

In all papers screened, none of them mentioned antimicrobial resistance aspects.

5.1.2. Ketogulonicigenium species

This species was assessed this year for the first time.

5.1.2.1. Taxonomic aspects

So far 'Ketogulonicigenium vulgare' has not been validly published published and therefore has from a taxonomic point of view no standing in nomenclature, despite of the notification in the notification list of the IJSEM (Anonymous, 2001; Urbance et al., 2001). Therefore 'Ketogulonicigenium vulgare' is so far no officially acknowledged taxonomic unit. The reason is that at the time of publication, the type strain was not deposited in two publicly accessible service collections in different countries. The authors could submit evidence of the deposit of the type strain in additional collections to the List Editor of IJSEM before the next meeting of the Judicial Commission in Sapporo, Japan, in 2011, and the species can be considered as validly published afterwards. There are also spelling corrections, which should be considered for literature research: 'Ketogulonicigenium vulgare' is sometimes referred to as 'Ketogulonicigenium vulgarum', and the genus name has been corrected upon notificiation from 'Ketogulonigenium' to 'Ketogulonicigenium'. These spelling differences should be therefore considered.

5.1.2.2. Safety aspects

Ketogulonicigenium vulgare can produce ascorbic acid from various substrates (Sugisawa et al. 2005).

The web of sciences was search for *Ketogulonigenium* or *Ketogulonicigenium* as topic, from 1975 to July 3rd 2011. 15 articles were found. All were screened and concerned vitamin C production. None reported safety concerns for human or animals, including antimicrobial resistance aspects.

In conclusion, due to the little body of knowledge apart from this very specific usage, it cannot be recommended for the QPS list.

5.1.2.3. Antimicrobial resistance aspects

In all papers screened, none of them mentioned antimicrobial resistance aspects.

6. Yeast

The yeast species recommended for the QPS list are *Debaryomyces hansenii*, *Hanseniaspora uvarum*, *Kluyveromyces lactis* and *Kluyveromyces marxianus*, *Saccharomyces bayanus*, *Saccharomyces*



cerevisiae, Saccharomyces pastorianus, Schizosaccharomyces pombe and Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous (imperfect form Phaffia rhodozyma), and for enzyme production purposes, Komagataella pastoris, Lindnera jadinii (formerly Pichia jadinii), Pichia angusta and Wickerhamomyces anomalus. During the review period, only few studies concerning safety aspects of these yeasts, including infections, disease, clinical significance, virulence and toxins were published.

Saccharomyces cerevisiae which is recommended for the QPS list based on a long history of safe use has also been implicated in human infections (EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2008a). A literature review for the preceeding year has not revealed any information that affected the recommendation for the QPS list (EFSA, 2009; 2010). During the last year, some manuscripts have been published concerning Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Some of them were included in the previous QPS report (EFSA, 2010). Recently, de Llanos et al. (2011) used two murine models (BALB/c and DBA/2N mice) to test clinical and commercial Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains by intravenous application. Considering the challenge conditions of this model it has limited significance for the recommendation of this species for the QPS list. There is a long history of safe use for Saccharomyces cerevisiae and the QPS recommendation is therefore maintained.

The QPS recommendations of the last year can be confirmed for all other yeast species because no significant publications appeared during the last year related with clinical studies (EFSA, 2010).

6.1.1. *Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous* (imperfect form: *Phaffia rhodozyma*)

Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous is the only species of the genus Xanthophyllomyces and the anamorph or imperfect form is Phaffia rhodozyma. The present view that Xanthophyllomyces is limited to one species is due to lack of information on the genetic variability within the genus and the difficulty to examine cross strain mating studies, due to the primary cell/bud mode of sexual reproduction. The genetic variability has been explored in three regions of the rRNA gene (ITS, D1/D2 LSU and IGS1). D1/D2 analysis of 27 strains (Fell et al., 2007) demonstrated that all of the Xanthophyllomyces strains have identical sequences. However small variability has been observed in strain of Phaffia rhodozyma, due to this situation, both names are accepted in the the fifth edition of The Yeasts, a Taxonomic Study (Kurtzman et al., 2011). This species produces the high-value carotenoid astaxanthin. This pigment or appropriate precursors must be included in the animals' diets to obtain their characteristic pigmentation.

Since both forms have the same application and record of safe use, both forms are recommended for the QPS list.

6.1.2. Trichosporon

The *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* species belongs to the *Trichosporon* genus of basidiomycetous anamorphic yeasts. This species was first isolated in 1996 from the hindgut of the lower termite *Mastotermes darwiniensis* (Prillinger et al., 1996). The name of this species refers to its ability to detoxify mycotoxins such as ochratoxin and zearalenone. Some strains of this species were shown to detoxify ochratoxin A by cleavage of the phenylalanine moiety from the isocumarin derivate to ochratoxin α, a metabolite that has been described to be non-toxic or at least 500 times less toxic than ochratoxin A (Schatmayr et al., 2006). *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* is also able to metabolize Zearalenone in a metabolite (ZOM-1) that apparently shows no estrogenic activity anymore (Vekiru et al., 2010). Some recent results also support the potential of cell walls from *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* to bind enteropathogenic bacteria (*E. coli* spp and *Salmonella* spp) while having no adverse effect against beneficial or commensal bacteria (Ganner et al., 2010). However, a study by Hickey et al. (2009) described *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* as a novel respiratory human pathogen having a propensity for patients with cystic fibrosis and reported four cases of recognized *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* pneumonia. According to this last report and due to the limited body



of knowledge on human and animal exposure, *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* is ineligible for QPS status.

6.1.3. Qualification for yeast regarding resistance to antimycotics

With regards to the QPS update 2010, the section of antifungal drugs was updated. During the last year two major reviews about emerging opportunistic yeast infections and resistance patterns were published (Miceli et al., 2011; White and Hoot, 2011). In the cases of QPS species only for *Saccharomyces* species and for *Wickerhamomyces anomalus* data are available. For both more than 90% of isolates tested are sensitive to polyenes (amphotericin B formulations), echinocandins (caspofungin) and voriconazole and 60–89% of isolates tested for fluconazole. In the cases of *Wickerhamomyces anomalus*, 40–59% of isolates tested were reported sensitive to itraconazole. Very few data are available for drug efficacy but amphotericin B and voriconazole seem to be active in vitro against *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* whereas, fluconazole might be variable in activity (Miceli et al., 2011). It should be noted that some therapeutic antifungal agent can have severe secondary effects which limit their usage.

Where *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is the cause of a systemic infection it should be possible to cure the patients using available drugs. As the optimal growth temperature for this yeast is 30 °C and is not normally associated with infection the qualification is relevant to strains with an unusually high optimum growth temperature. For these strains susceptibility testing is recommended.

Antifungal susceptibility testing is recommended for *Wickerhamomyces anomalus* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains able to grow at temperatures equal to or above 37° C. This qualification is only relevant if viable yeasts are intentionally introduced into the food chain.

7. Filamentous fungi

Filamentous fungi are important agents for intentional addition and use along the food chain. Therefore, even though no recommendation for the QPS list is anticipated in the near future, an updated knowledge on developments in this field and of the body of knowledge is considered essential in support of risk assessment that are carried out by EFSA. The body of knowledge on fungi in fields relevant for assessment of strains notified to EFSA is rapidly moving (e.g. methods for identification of strains, safety concerns for humans, nature and diversity of toxic compounds produced, conditions leading to toxin productions). The yearly update done in the QPS Opinions provides regular, useful and consistent information on fungal species of importance for EFSA (see section 1.2. of this opinion).

The general body of knowledge on filamentous fungi has been updated in the present Opinion, considering in particular the progress and limitation in the taxonomy, in the knowledge of metabolic pathways and in the identification of the production of toxic compounds. New issues were considered, such as the resistance of fungi to therapeutic antifungal agents and the risks linked to the use of fungi as plant protection products. Where a species or genus is not mentioned in the specific sections in the text of the body of this opinion, a remark on the outcome of the 2011 review was included in the notification table (Appendix A).

New notifications assessed since the 2010 QPS update (EFSA, 2010) were received for *Ampelomyces quisqualis*, *Ashbya gossypii*, *Aspergillus aculeatus* and *Trichoderma asperellum*.

7.1.1. Ampelomyces

This species was assessed this year for the first time. *Ampelomyces quisqualis* complex is reported as the most common and widespread pycnidial hyperparasite of the family Erysiphaceae, the cause of powdery mildew diseases (Kiss et al., 2004). Isolates from the genus *Ampelomyces* were among the



first mycoparasites to be studied in detail (first described in 1930) and were also the first fungi used as biocontrol agents of plant parasitic fungi. Since 1996, a commercial product called AQ-10 is available. This biofungicide is a pelleted formulation of conidia of Ampelomyces quisqualis isolate M-10. Since 1980 this product has been found to be tolerant with some fungicides, so it is recommended to be used in an integrated approach in combination with chemical pesticides. In studies of its mode of action (Kiss, 2003) Ampelomyces quisqualis is shown to colonize hyphae of powdery mildews to continue its growth internally, and it produces the pycnidia in the cells of the hyphae, conidiophores and immature cleistothecia of its fungal hosts. Thus, this intracellular mycoparasite suppresses the sporulation of the attacked powdery mildew mycelium and kills the parasitized cells. There is still an ongoing debate on the taxonomy of the genus Ampelomyces. Although its genetic diversity has been investigated during the last five years and four distinct groups identified according to sequences divergence in the ITS rDNA and actin genes (Park et al., 2010), a single name is still applied to all pycnidial intracellular hyperparasites of powdery mildew (inducing a high possibility of confusion with isolates of *Phoma glomerata*, according to Sullivan and White (2000)). Recently, it has been reported that the host specificity of *Ampelomyces* isolates was not so pronounced since some isolates were shown to be able to infect powdery mildew species they were unlikely to have encountered in nature (Kiss et al., 2011). This raises the risk of non-target effects with potential ecological impacts associated with the release of this biological agent (Brimner and Boland, 2003). According to the two toxicological reports included in the North America pesticide database (PAN) and the European pesticide properties database (PPDB), there is no evidence of adverse effects in animal and human exposed to A. quisqualis isolate M-10 and no indication of hypersensitivity was reported. There have been no reported cases of adverse reactions associated with the production of the biological fungicide.

However, despite their apparent safe use as biocontrol agents, it has not been possible through extensive literature searches to verify a general absence of biological active secondary metabolites from *Ampelomyces quisqualis* isolates. Taxonomy of this genus requires also to be elucidated. Thus, this species cannot be proposed for QPS status.

7.1.2. *Ashbya*

This species was assessed this year for the first time. Ashbya gossypii is a filamentous ascomycete fungus with the smallest genome known for a free-living eukaryote yet characterized. With its close ties to yeast and a facility of genetic manipulation, Ashbya gossypii is well suited as a model to elucidate the regulatory networks that govern the functional differences between filamentous growth and yeast growth. This explains the numerous publications (more than 150, according to a Web of Science search) that have been devoted to this species during the last ten years. The genome of Ashbya gossypii has been sequenced and annoted in 2004, 90 % of the genes present in the genomes of Ashbya gossypii and Saccharomyces cerevisiae were found to be orthologous and syntenic (Dietrich et al., 2004). Ashbya gossypii is also a riboflavin-producing filamentous fungus that converts vegetable oil to vitamin B2 in a "one-step reaction". Potential to produce riboflavin is a common trait in this fungal species with the occurrence of high and low-producing strains. Together with Candida famata and Bacillus subtilis, Ashbya gossypii belongs to the three most common microorganisms that are currently in use for industrial riboflavin production (Stahmann et al., 2000). The productivity and selectivity of this microorganism have been improved significantly over the years, with the identification of overproducing mutants or the use of genetically modified strains. An extensive literature search did not reveal any information on toxic metabolites from this species. However, in the future, the knowledge of Ashbya gossypii should allow identifying genes cluster involved in the biosynthesis of toxic secondary metabolites.

The body of knowledge concerning the capacity of *Ashbya gossypii* to produce biological active secondary metabolites remains limited and this species cannot be proposed for QPS status.



7.1.3. Aspergillus species

Among the quite many new papers on *Aspergillus* species there are no relevant reports on the lack of toxicity or toxin production. Most reports on *Aspergillus niger* and *Aspergillus oryzae* deal with the genetic regulation of enzyme production or the industrial production of metabolites. There are also some reports on food spoilage and mycotoxins contamination by *Aspergillus niger*.

7.1.3.1. Aspergillus aculeatus

This species was assessed this year for the first time. The notified *Aspergillus aculeatus* is a tropical species within the black aspergilli complex and has been reported to produce the mycotoxins secalonic acid D and F (EFSA, 2010; Samson et al., 2007) and is therefore ineligible for the QPS list.

7.1.4. Beauveria bassiana

Since the beginning of 2010, a significant number of reports (close to 300) have been published concerning *Beauveria bassiana* according to a PubMed and Web of Science search. Actually, *Beauveria bassiana* is a well-characterized entomopathogenic fungus with a high host range and a high potential in insect pest control. Several strains of *Beauveria bassiana* have been licensed for commercial use against whiteflies, aphids, thrips and numerous other insects or arthropod pests. Like any microorganism, *Beauveria bassiana* has the potential to act as an opportunistic pathogen, but as the literature studies confirms, *Beauveria bassiana* infections are extremely rare events. No new case of *Beauveria bassiana*-mediated tissue infection has been reported since the beginning of 2010. However, a recent report (Pagiotti et al., 2010) has demonstrated the occurrence of *Beauveria bassania* in a clinical environment. The exposure and health risk linked to the aerosolization of fungal pest control agents including *Beauveria bassania* has also recently been underlined (Madsen, 2011), according to the previous report of Westwood et al. (2005) on the allergens detained by *Beauveria bassania*.

Due to recognised, though limited human infection and its allergenic potential, *Beauveria bassania* is ineligible for the 2011 QPS list.

7.1.5. Beauveria brongniartii

During 2010 and the five first months of 2011, twelve reports dealing with *Beauveria brongniartii* have been identified through a PubMed and Web of Science survey. The majority of these focuse on the entomopathogenic potential of this fungal species. New data concerning the phylogeny and systematics of the genus *Beauveria* have also been published, with the identification of six new species in addition to *Beauveria brongniartii* and *Beauveria bassiana* (Rehner et al., 2011). In two manuscripts, the environmental risk posed by the use of *Beauveria brongniartii* as a biological control agent was considered; the low persistence in soils of this entomopathogenic fungus was confirmed (Laengle and Strasser, 2010; Scheepmaker and Butt, 2010).

No new data demonstrate the lack of toxicity associated with *Beauveria brongniartii* or clarify the toxicity of oosporein, an antifungal peptide produced by this species. Therefore, *Beauveria brongniartii* is still ineligible for QPS status.

7.1.6. Blakeslea

The search for new information on the genus *Blakeslea* did not retrieve any new relevant data on toxicity or toxins (EFSA, 2010). All papers were on production of lycopene from *Blakeslea* species. In light of this limited information *Blakeslea trispora* is still not recommended for QPS.



7.1.7. Coniothyrium minitans

Twenty-five reports concerning *Coniothyrium minitans* have been published since the beginning of 2010, according to a bibliographic survey based on PubMed and Web of Science as databases. The major part of these reports describes data that support the efficacy of *Coniothyrium minitans* for biological control of *Sclerotinia* diseases but also its potential for chitinase production and oxalic acid degradation. No new data certifying the lack of biological active secondary metabolites produced by this species has been retrieved and *Coniothyrium minitans* remains ineligible for QPS status.

7.1.8. Duddingtonia flagrans

Twenty-three reports on *Duddingtonia flagrans* have been published since the beginning of 2010 (using PubMed and Web of Science as bibliographic databases). Most of them deal with the nematode predatory activity of this species and illustrate the fact that *Duddingtonia flagrans* stands out as the most promising agent for the control of gastrointestinal nematodiasis in domestic animals. The environmental impact of *Duddingtonia flagrans* application was investigated in the study of Paraud et al. (2011) that led to the conclusion of an insignificant effect on the free-living soil nematodes. The recent search did however not retrieve any new relevant data on the toxicity of metabolites from this organism and *Duddingtonia flagrans* remains ineligible for QPS status.

7.1.9. Fusarium species

More of 1500 papers devoted to *Fusarium* have been retrieved in the time frame of search 2010-2011, using the Web of Science database. This high publishing activity illustrates the significant interest that phytopathogenic and mycotoxinogenic fungal strains of this genus still bring up.

7.1.9.1. Taxonomy

The set of available Fusarium species—specific primers has been largely enriched since the beginning of 2010 and the relevance of real-time PCR assay for predicting cereals contamination illustrated (Sampietro et al., 2010; Pasquali et al., 2010). A recent paper published by Park et al. (2011) describes the state of progress reached by the integrated platforms that the Fusarium community has built in order to facilitate strain identification, phylogenetics studies (Fusarium identification database or Fusarium-ID), comparative genomics (Fusarium Comparative Genomics Platform or FCGP) and knowledge sharing (Fusarium community platform FCP). Fusarium-ID or (http://isolate.fusariumdb.org/) archives more than 5500 markers (a number that continuously increases), representing over than 200 species. Sequences at three loci (EF-1a, RNA polymerase RPB1 and RPB2) are available for all the described phylogenetic species that can serve as relevant tools to help identify new isolates.

7.1.9.2. Biosynthetic pathways of *Fusarium* mycotoxins and their regulation

Although more than 300 papers dealing with *Fusarium* mycotoxins have been published since the beginning of 2010 (according to a Web of Science search), no significant progress has been made in elucidating the regulatory mechanisms that induce or repress mycotoxins production. The most relevant data concern the identification of factors that, in *planta*, are likely to modulate toxins accumulation, such as polyamines for trichothecenes (Gardiner et al., 2010) and oxylipins for fumonisins and aflatoxins (Christensen and Kolomiets, 2011). A recent paper describes also cobalt chloride as an efficient enhancer of *in vitro* trichothecenes production, and as a useful tool to investigate regulatory mechanisms (Tsuyuki et al., 2011).



7.1.9.3. Emerging *Fusarium* toxins

Enniatins, beauvericin, moniformin and fusaproliferin have been the subject of several papers (approximately 15 for each toxin) since the beginning of 2010 (according to a Web of Science search). Definition of 'Taqman' assays to quantify the producers, elucidation of the biosynthetic pathway and required genes, investigation of their toxic effects are the main topics developed in these papers. There is also an ongoing debate on the question of a higher prevalence of these emerging toxins linked to climate—change effects (Magan et al., 2011).

7.1.10. Gliocladium catenulatum

The current name in use for *Gliocladium catenulatum* is *Clonostachys rosea* f. *catenulata* and the taxonomic relationship as well as nomenclature is described in detail (EFSA, 2009). Bertinetti et al. (2010) report the production of a new antimicrobial compound, which is active against the honey bee pathogen *Paenibacillus larvae*, but showed no activity against *Bacillus subtilis, Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* (Bertinetti et al., 2010). No information on lack of toxins or toxicity against mammals is reported, therefore this species cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.11. Lecanicillium muscarium

All reports from a Web of Science search deal with the pathogenicity against insects. No new data on toxins or safety has been published, therefore this species cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.12. Metarhizum anisopliae

Many of the nearly 300 reports on *Metarhizum anisopliae* retrieved by a search in Web of Science deal with the production of metabolites and genetic and physiological regulation of the metabolism, as well as the toxicity towards insects. However, a recent report demonstrates cytotoxic effects of conidia in the lungs of mice (Anand and Tiwary, 2010) and a case of corneal ulcer in a child (Motley et al., 2011). A recent review of the toxins of *Metarhizium anisopliae* does not bring forward any general lack of toxicity (Schrank and Vainstein, 2010). Therefore *Metarhizum anisopliae* cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.13. Paecilomyces lilacinus

Since the beginning of 2010, according to a PubMed and Web of Science search, more than 70 publications dealing with *Paecilomyces lilacinus* have been published. Among these, several reports support the potential of this species as an agent for the control of plant-parasitic nematodes. In 10 papers, human and animal invasive infection events linked to *Paecilomyces lilacinus* (or related species) are described: four cases of *Paecilomyces keratitis* (Yildiz et al., 2010; Pei-Chen et al., 2010), one of invasive fungal rhinitis (Ciecko et al., 2010), a case of dog dermatomycosis (Han et al., 2010) and one of fungal endophtalmitis in an immunocompetent patient (Anita et al., 2011). According to two supplementary papers (Rosmaninho et al., 2010; Houbraken et al., 2010), *Paecilomyces lilacinus* is considered as one of the most frequently encountered emerging causative agents leading to opportunistic infection, especially in immunocompromised and transplant patients. Based on this, *Paecilomyces lilacinus* cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.14. *Penicillium* species

For the *Penicillium* species, *Penicillium camemberti*, *Penicillium chrysogenum*, *Penicillium funiculosum*, *Penicillium nalgiovense* and *Penicillium roqueforti*, no new information on the lack of toxicity or toxins have been retrieved. The reports deal with production of the specific products or food spoilage problems.



7.1.15. Phlebiopsis gigantea

The recent search in Web of Science did not reveal any new information of the general lack of toxicity of *Phlebiopsis gigantea*. The knowledge concerning the capacity of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* to produce biological active secondary metabolites remains therefore insufficient and this species cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.16. Pseudozyma flocculosa

The recent search for new information on metabolites or (lack of) toxicity did not retrieve any new relevant data for this organism. The body of knowledge is insufficient to propose *Pseudozyma flocculosa* for the QPS list.

7.1.17. Pythium oligandrum

Seven reports have focused on *Pythium oligandrum* since the beginning of 2010, according to a bibliographic survey using PubMed and Web of Science as databases. These reports support the ability of this hyperparasite to colonize other pathogenic fungi in and around seeds and the rhizosphere of treated plants. One report clarifies the mechanisms by which *Pythium oligandrum* is also able to enhance plant defence reactions (Masunaka et al., 2010). When the key word pythiosis was used, 17 reports, all associated with the *Pythium insidiosum* species, were retrieved.

No new data demonstrated the lack of toxicological or pathogenic effects of *Pythium oligandrum* in mammals. Therefore, *Pythium oligandrum* is still ineligible for QPS status.

7.1.18. Trichoderma species

More than 900 papers have been published since the beginning of 2010 (according to a Web of Science search). The most frequently reported results concern the use of some strains belonging to this genus for enzymes production, mainly enzymes involved in plant cell wall degradation.

7.1.18.1. Taxonomy

The taxonomy of *Trichoderma* has been improved by a handful of papers and monographs that clarifies the species delimitation in some sections of this genus. The new taxonomic schemes do not have any impact on taxonomic designations of species notified to EFSA.

7.1.18.2. Trichoderma asperellum

This species was assessed this year for the first time. *Trichoderma asperellum* strains are commonly isolated from soil and decomposing matter, occurrence of marine strains is also reported. According to a Web of Science and PubMed searches, the major part of the more recently published reports that deals with *Trichoderma asperellum* illustrates its efficiency as a mycoparasitic biocontrol agent. *Trichoderma asperellum* is described as an antagonist of many soil borne fungal plant pathogens such as *Sclerotinia* spp., *Thielaviopsis paradoxa* (Wijesinghe et al., 2010), *Fusarium oxysporum* and of root-knot nematodes (Affokpon et al., 2011). The use of *Trichoderma asperellum* as a method of bioremediation for soil, sediment or water contaminated with heavy metals has also been investigated and the uptake capacity of *Trichoderma asperellum* for arsenic was illustrated (Su et al., 2010). In one of the retrieved report, the production of neurotoxic metabolites by marine-derived strains of *Trichoderma asperellum* was demonstrated, the structures of six peptaibols called asperelines A-F were elucidated (Ren et al., 2009).



Considering the capacity detained by some strains of *Trichoderma asperellum* to produce biological active compounds, each strain should be investigated in detail, which makes *Trichoderma asperellum* ineligible for QPS status.

7.1.18.3. Trichoderma longibrachiatum

This species was assessed this year because a notification relating to enzyme production was received. Trichoderma longibrachiatum is one of the most studied filamentous fungi for its potential to produce plant cell wall-degrading enzymes (xylanase, cellulase, glucanase) with a high diversity of industrial applications: pulp and paper industry, green chemistry, biofuel, food and feed industry. Among the 23 reports devoted to Trichoderma longibrachiatum that have been published since the beginning of 2010 (PubMed and Web of Science searches), half of them concern the efficient use of Trichoderma longibrachiatum for enzyme production. Trichoderma longibrachiatum is a very common fungus in environmental samples from all over the world with also the occurrence of marine strains. Production of peptaibols such as longibrachin-A-I by these marine-related strains is well documented (Mohamed-Benkada et al., 2006). These toxic metabolites, that exhibit neurotoxicity by forming pores in neuronal membranes, were also recently demonstrated to enhance the toxicity of domoic acid, a neurotoxic phycotoxin (Ruiz et al., 2010). Moreover, Trichoderma longibrachiatum shows increasing medical importance as an opportunistic human pathogen particularly in immunocompromised and immunosuppressed patients. Trichoderma longibrachiatum is described as the causal agent in the majority of reported *Trichoderma* mycoses. One of the more recently reported clinical case related to Trichoderma longibrachiatum was the case of an infection in a renal transplant recipient in Tunisia (Trabelsi et al., 2010). According to the previous comments, Trichoderma longibrachiatum cannot be eligible for QPS status.

7.1.18.4. Trichoderma viride

Trichoderma viride was re-assessed this year because a notification for enzyme production was received. Trichoderma viride is a well-known cellulose-degrading fungus and a well studied fungus for its ability to produce large amounts of cellulolytic enzymes. However, according to Cvetnic and Pepeljnjak (1997), some strains of Trichoderma viride have the ability to produce a highly toxic metabolite, the diacetooxyscirpenol. There is no solid proof that their observation is true. Their strains were unnumbered and have not been kept in a collection for re-evaluation and their chemical detection is by TLC which is highly insufficient for the trichothecenes such as diacetoxyscirpenol. A clarification of production of trichothecenes by Trichoderma species was published later (Nielsen et al., 2005) where it was demonstrated that the trichothecene producer should be named Trichoderma brevicompactum. Later, another new species, Trichoderma arundinaceum, was also found to produce trichothecenes (Degenkolb et al., 2008).

As already concluded in previous EFSA Opinions (EFSA, 2009; 2010), $Trichoderma\ viride$ cannot be granted QPS status as this and other Trichoderma species do produce the highly biological active peptaibols, which are small peptides (15-20 amino acids) containing α -aminoisobutyric acid.

According to this potentiality to produce mycotoxins, *Trichoderma viride* cannot be recommended for the QPS list.

7.1.19. Verticillium alboatrum

A bibliographic survey using PubMed and Web of Science as databases indicates that 26 reports have been recently devoted to *Verticillium alboatrum* (since the beginning of 2010). The pathogenicity of this species in relation to wilt diseases of vegetable crops was the focus of these 26 reports. No new data have been published since the beginning of 2010 clarifying the toxicity of alboatrin and VD-



toxins, two phytotoxins produced by *Verticillium albo-atrum*. The body of knowledge remains therefore very limited, and this species cannot be proposed for the QPS list.

7.1.20. Conclusions on filamentous fungi

In the 2010 QPS opinion, it was concluded that filamentous fungi cannot be proposed for inclusion on the QPS list owing to three main rationales: the frequent occurrence of inaccuracies and inconsistencies in fungal species identification, the insufficient knowledge concerning the regulation mechanisms underlying the production of fungal metabolites and the poor knowledge concerning the toxic impact of fungal secondary metabolites. Although numerous data, published since the 2010 QPS opinion, have contributed to partially fulfil these gaps of knowledge, too many unknowns remain in 2011 to allow a filamentous fungus to be qualified as QPS.

The extensive literature search that has been performed to establish this 2011 QPS opinion has actually underlined the tremendous progress in filamentous fungus knowledge recently achieved but has also illustrated an increased activity in the discovery of new mycotoxins, designed as emerging mycotoxins.

7.2. Viruses used for plant protection

7.2.1. Potyviridae

Viruses belonging to the family Potyviridae are used for cross protection purposes, i.e. the application of mild strains of a virus protects the crop against strains of the virus giving severe symptoms. Their potential effects on animals and/or humans, when applied to food or feed, were reviewed and assessed, and the results were published in the EFSA Opinion on QPS 2009 (EFSA, 2009) and 2010 (EFSA, 2010). It was concluded that there was no scientific or other evidence that potyviruses have any negative effect on animals and humans to date. In addition, the familiarity principle was taken into consideration as well in that these viruses have been part of the food and feed for animals and humans since plant material was part of the food package. Hence it was agreed that the family Potyviridae is the highest taxonomic unit, which should receive QPS status. Since this last major review, no new information which would compromise the conclusion drawn in 2010 has appeared. Furthermore, evidence was found (Kuiper et al., 2001) that the major products of potyviruses that are used in cross protection (zucchini yellows mosaic virus) were specifically evaluated for their possible toxic effect on animals when expressed in transgenic plants. The sequences of these products, the coat proteins of watermelon mosaic virus 2 and zucchini yellows mosaic virus, were compared to databases of known proteinaceous toxins, but none of these showed any homology to potential known mammalian protein toxins (Health Canada, 1999). In conclusion, viruses belonging to the Potyviridae family should remanin to receive QPS status.

7.2.2. Baculoviridae

Viruses belonging to the family Baculoviridae and their potential effects on animals and humans, when applied to food or feed, were extensively reviewed and the results were published in the EFSA Opinion on QPS 2009 (EFSA, 2009) and 2010 (EFSA, 2010). It was concluded that there was no scientific or other evidence that baculoviruses have any negative effect on animals and humans to date when used appropriately as a biocontrol agent. In addition the familiarity principle was taken into consideration as well in that these viruses have been extensively used for over five decades as biocontrol agents of insect pests without any report describing a negative effect on humans or animals. Furthermore, baculoviruses frequently appear in nature as disease agent of insect caterpillar, without a negative report on human or animal health. The OECD already concluded that baculoviruses were safe to use for products intended for human consumption (Anonymus, 2002).



Hence it was agreed that the family Baculoviridae is the highest taxonomic unit should receive QPS status in the registration process (EFSA 2009; EFSA 2010).

Since the last major review, no new information which would compromise the conclusion drawn in 2009 and 2010 has appeared. Further support for the safety of baculoviruses is taken from the fact that a number of baculovirus-derived products (recombinant proteins) have been registered and reached the market, such as vaccines against cervical cancer (Harper, 2009; Szarewski, 2010), porcine circovirus (Fort et al., 2009) and immunotherapeutics for prostate cancer (Kantoff et al., 2010).

A matter of contention could be the observation that the budded virus (BV) phenotype of baculoviruses, that is responsible for the systemic infection of insect larvae, is able to infect mammalian cells and tissues to serve as a gene delivery vehicle for gene therapy (Hu, 2008; Rivera-Gonzalez et al., 2011). BV infection and replication is very specific for insects only. The infection (entry) by the BV form of baculoviruses of mammalian cells is very artificial and will never happen in natural situations. In addition, replication of baculovirus in mammalian cells has never been shown. Furthermore, the *in vivo* complement system in mammalian blood eliminates the BV form of the virus as soon as it enters, but does not block gene delivery (Hofmann and Strauss, 1998). The baculovirus phenotype present in the baculovirus capsule, as it is used for biocontrol, cannot infect mammalian cells; moreover the baculovirus capsules will pass the digestive system unaffected.

When appropriately used, baculovirus in conjunction with food and feed will impose no harm on animal or human health.

Apart from the intrinsic biological features of baculoviruses and their inherent safety for humans and other vertebrates, a point of attention to note is the fact that these viruses have to be produced in animals (insects) and have to be formulated to stick to plant material and to protect the virus against UV damage. Microbial contaminants, allergenicity and toxicity of additives are among the agents, which could affect human and animal health. This concerns the formulation and does not contradict the recommendation to include the Baculoviridae on the QPS list. Regulation on the microbiological contaminants in baculovirus preparations is in place as part of the registration requirements (Rochon et al., 2009).



Table 1: The 2011 updated list of QPS recommended biological agents

Gram-Positive Non-Sporulating Bacteria						
Species			Qualifications *			
Bifidobacterium adolescentis Bifidobacterium animalis	Bifidobacterium bifidum Bifidobacterium breve	Bifidobacterium longum				
Corynebacterium glutamicum**			QPS recommendation only when the species is used for amino acid production.			
Lactobacillus acidophilus Lactobacillus amylolyticus Lactobacillus amylovorus Lactobacillus alimentarius Lactobacillus aviaries Lactobacillus brevis Lactobacillus buchneri Lactobacillus casei *** Lactobacillus cellobiosus Lactobacillus coryniformis Lactobacillus crispatus Lactobacillus curvatus Lactobacillus delbrueckii	Lactobacillus farciminis Lactobacillus fermentum Lactobacillus gallinarum Lactobacillus gasseri Lactobacillus helveticus Lactobacillus hilgardii Lactobacillus johnsonii Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens Lactobacillus kefiri Lactobacillus mucosae Lactobacillus panis Lactobacillus collinoides	Lactobacillus paracasei Lactobacillus paraplantarum Lactobacillus pentosus Lactobacillus plantarum Lactobacillus pontis Lactobacillus reuteri Lactobacillus rhamnosus Lactobacillus sakei Lactobacillus salivarius Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis				
Lactococcus lactis Leuconostoc citreum	Leuconostoc lactis	Leuconostoc mesenteroides				
	Oenococcus oeni					
Pediococcus acidilactici Propionibacterium freudenreichii	Pediococcus dextrinicus Propiobacterium acidopropionici	Pediococcus pentosaceus				
Streptococcus thermophilus						
Bacillus			I			
Species	D 41 1	D 41 4	Qualifications*			
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens Bacillus atrophaeus Bacillus clausii Bacillus coagulans Bacillus fusiformis	Bacillus lentus Bacillus licheniformis Bacillus megaterium Bacillus mojavensis	Bacillus pumilus Bacillus subtilis Bacillus vallismortis Geobacillus stearothermophilus	Absence of toxigenic activity.			

^{*} Generic qualification for all QPS bacterial taxonomic units: the strains should not harbour any acquired antimicrobial resistance genes to clinically relevant antibiotics.

^{**} Brevibacterium lactofermentum is a synonym of Corynebacterium glutamicum

^{***} The previously described species "Lactobacillus zeae" has been included in the species Lactobacillus casei



Table 1 Continued: The 2011 updated list of biological agents recommended for QPS

Yeasts ¹⁴			
Species	Qualifications		
Debaryomyces hansenii			
Hanseniaspora uvarum			
Kluyveromyces lactis	nus		
Komagataella pastoris Lindnera jadinii Pichia angusta			QPS applies only when the species is used for enzyme production
Saccharomyces bayanus****	Saccharomyces cerevisiae†****	Saccharomyces pastorianus****	
Schizosaccharomyces pombe			
Wickerhamomyces anomalus****			QPS applies only when the species is used for enzyme production
Xanthophyllomyces			
dendrorhous (imperfect			
form Phaffia rhodozyma)			
Virus			
Family			
Potyviridae Baculoviridae			

^{****}Absence of resistance to antimycotics used for medical treatment of yeast infections in cases where viable cells are added to the food or feed chain. In the case of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* this qualification applies for yeast strains able to grow above 37 °C.

Wickerhamomyces anomalus: synonym Hansenula anomala, Pichia anomola, Saccharomyces anomalus Lindnera jadinii: anamorph Candida utilis; synonyms Pichia jadinii, Hansenula jadinii, Torulopsis utilis Saccharomyces cerevisiae synonym S. boulardii

Saccharomyces pastorianus: synonym of Saccharomyces carlsbergensis

Komagataella pastoris: synonym Pichia pastoris

_

[†] S. cerevisiae, subtype boulardii is contraindicated for patients of fragile health, as well as for patients with a central venous catheter in place.

¹⁴ Yeast synonyms commonly used in the feed/food industry



CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

Answer to the terms of reference (ToR):

ToR1: Preparation of an update of the list of biological agents notified to EFSA for safety assessment. This should be a starting point for identifying new taxonomic units for review under the QPS assessment. Only those taxonomic units relevant to current legal requirements in the context of notification to EFSA for intentional use in feed and/or food or as sources of food and feed additives, enzymes and plant protection products shall be included. The list was completed with the notifications received where applicable by EFSA Panels and Units since the last review.

ToR2: Annual review of the list of biological agents recommended for the QPS list. Where appropriate new taxonomic units should be assessed for their suitability for an inclusion in the QPS list, and taxonomic units previously assessed should be reviewed where new information has become available. The information provided in the previous opinion should be updated where appropriate.

All taxonomic units previously recommended for the QPS list were confirmed. The notifications were assessed and no new recommendations for the QPS list were made.

An assessment of three new bacterial species (Ensifer adhaerens and Ensifer fredii, Ketogulonicigenium vulgare, Clostridium butyricum), a new yeast species (Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans) and several additional fungi species (Ampelomyces quisqualis, Ashbya gossypii, Aspergillus aculeatus, Trichoderma asperellum, Trichoderma longibrachiatum for enzyme production, Trichoderma viride for enzyme production) was performed but these species were not included on the QPS list.

Phaffia rhodozyma the imperfect form of *Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous* was included on the QPS recommended list. In accordance with the most recent taxonomic revision of yeasts, *Pichia jadinii* was changed to *Lindnera jadinii*.

The information of the previous opinion was updated for the taxonomic units on the QPS list.

ToR3 and 4: Review and update of knowledge concerning antimicrobial resistance in taxonomic units recommended for the QPS list. Review of the qualifications for taxonomic units included on the QPS recommended list.

The information of the previous opinion was updated for bacteria and the qualification on antimicrobial resistance was confirmed.

For the yeast the knowledge on antimycotic resistance was updated and the qualification 'on absence of resistance to antimycotics used for medical treatment of yeast infections' was complemented by the sentence 'in the case of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* this qualification applies for yeast strains able to grow above 37 °C'. This qualification is only relevant if viable yeasts are intentionally introduced into the food chain and it was restricted to those yeast species for which information on antifungal susceptibility exists.

ToR5: Review of the body of knowledge for filamentous fungi and enterococci.

The knowledge of filamentous fungi notified for EFSA was updated. Although numerous data, published since the 2010 QPS opinion, have contributed to partially fulfil gaps of knowledge, too many unknowns remain in 2011 to allow a filamentous fungus to be qualified as QPS.

Enterococci cannot be considered for the QPS list based on the current scientific knowledge.



RECOMMENDATIONS

While recent findings do not warrant any reconsideration of the QPS status of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and *Bacillus* species, further studies on both human and veterinary clinical isolates particularly from cases where there have been no predisposing factors, should be considered to find out any specific factors that might contribute to the pathogenicity.

More data on minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) for therapeutic antimicrobials and guidelines for the interpretation are needed in general for all bacteria used for food and feed purposes.

More information on the antifungal susceptibility of yeasts frequently introduced into the food and feed chain is needed.

Concerning fungi, the same recommendations as those issued from the 2010 QPS opinion remain valuable. Progresses have to be achieved to attain three main objectives:

- (i) the definition and use of standardized methods to allow a correct identification of fungal species
- (ii) an accurate establishment of the metabolic profile for each considered species and an increased knowledge of the factors controlling the production of fungal toxic metabolites
- (iii) an increased knowledge of the toxicological impact of fungal secondary metabolites.



REFERENCES

- Abe Y, Negasawa T, Monma C and Oka A, 2008. Infantile botulism caused by *Clostridium butyricum* type E toxin. Pediatr Neurol. 2008 38, 1, 55-57.
- Affokpon A, Coyne DL, Htay CC, Agbèdè RD, Lawouin L and Coosemans J, 2011. Biocontrol potential of native *Trichoderma* isolates against root-knot nematodes in West African vegetable production systems. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 3, 600-608.
- Ammor MS, Flórez AB, van Hoek AH, de Los Reyes-Gavilán CG, Aarts HJ, Margolles A and Mayo B, 2008. Molecular characterization of intrinsic and acquired antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 14, 1-3, 6-15.
- Anand R and Tiwary BN, 2010. Cytokine profile and cytotoxicity in response to acute intratracheal dose of *Metarhizium anisopliae* in BALB/c mice. Med. Mycology 48, 8, 1039-1048.
- Anita K, Fernandez N and Rao R, 2010. Fungal endophtalmitis caused by *Paecilomyces variotii*, in an immunocompetent patient, following intraocular lens implantation. Indian J. Med. Microbiol. 28, 3, 253-254.
- Anonymous, 1992, International Code of Nomenclature of Bacteria. Bacteriological Code, 1990 Revision. Edited by SP Lapage, PHA Sneath, EF Lessel, VBD Skerman, HPR Seeliger, and WA Clark. Washington (DC): ASM Press; 1992. ISBN-10: 1-55581-039-X.
- Anonymous, 2001. Notification that new names and new combinations have appeared in volume 51, part 3, of the IJSEM. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 2001, 51, 1231-1233.
- Anonymus, 2002. OECD Consensus document on inforantion used in the assessment of environmental applications involving baculoviruses. Series on Harmonisation of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology, vol. 20. ENV/JM/MONO(2002)1, 90pp.
- Anonymous, 2007. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; approved guideline. CLSI document M45-A (ISBN 1-56238-607-7). CLSI, Wayne, Pennsylvania
- Anonymous, 2008, Judical Commission of the International Committee on Systematics of Procaryotes: The genus name *Sinorhizobium* Chen et al. 1988 is a later synonym of *Ensifer casida* 1982 and is not conserved over the latter genus name, and the species name *'Sinorhizobium adhaerens*' is not validly published. Opinion 84. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 2008, 58, 1973.
- Anonymous, 2010. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). Retrieved on 24 October 2011 at www.ictvonline.org.
- Anonymous, 2011. List of prokaryotic names with standing nomenclature (LPSN). Retrieved from the website on 19 August 2011 [http://www.bacterio.cict.fr/].
- Aureli P, Capurso L, Castellazzi AM, Clerici M, Giovannini M, Morelli L, Poli A, Pregliasco F, Salvini F and Zuccotti GV, 2011. Probiotics and health: An evidence-based review. Pharmacol. Res. 63, 366-376.
- Ayeni FA, Sánchez B, Adeniyi BA, de los Reyes-Gavilán CG, Margolles A and Ruas-Madiedo P, 2011. Evaluation of the functional potential of *Weissella* and *Lactobacillus* isolates obtained from Nigerian traditional fermented foods and cow's intestine. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 147, 97-104.
- Baltimore D, 1971. Expression of animal virus genome. Bacteriol. Rev. 35, 235-241.
- Baltimore D, 1974. The strategy of RNA viruses. Harvey Lect. 70 Series, 57-74.
- Bernabeu JL, Leo E, Trigo C, Herrera JM, Sousa JM and Marquez JL, 2011. Crohn's disease and liver abscess due to *Pediococcus* sp. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 17, 10, 2207-2208.



- Bernier M, Njomnang Soh P, Lochet A, Prots L, Félice R, Senescau A, Fabre R and Philippon A, 2010. Philippon A. [*Lactobacillus delbrueckii*: Probable agent of urinary tract infections in very old women.]. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2010 Jun 2. [Epub ahead of print] French. PubMed PMID: 20605373.
- Bertinetti BV, Rodriguez MA, Godeas AM and Cabrera GM. 2010. 1H,1 'H- 3,3 'biindolyl from the terrestrial fungus *Gliocladium catenulatum*. J. Antibiotics 63, 11, 681-683.
- Brimner T and Boland G, 2003. A review of the non-target effects of fungi used to biologically control plant diseases. Agricult. Ecosys. Environ. 100, 3-16.
- Casida LE, 1982. *Ensifer adhaerens* gen. nov., sp. nov.: A bacterial predator of bacteria in soil. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 32, 339-345.
- Chanos P and Williams DR, 2011. Anit-*Listeria* bacteriocin-producing bacteria from raw ewe's milk in northern Greece. J. Appl. Microbiol. 110, 757-768.
- Chen WX, Yan GH and Li JL, 1988. Numerical taxonomic study of fast-growing soybean *Rhizobia* and a proposal that *Rhizobium fredii* be assigned to *Sinorhizobium* gen. nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 38, 392-397.
- Chenoll E, Casinos B, Bataller E, Astals P, Echevarria J, Iglesias JR, Balbarie P, Ramón D and Genovés S, 2010. A novel probiotic *Bifidobacterium bifidum* CECT 7366 strain active against the pathogenic bacteria *Helicobacter pylori*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 4, 1335-1343.
- Cintas LM, Herranz C and Hernández PE, 2011. Natural and heterologous production of bacteriocins. Chapter 8 in: Prokaryotic antimicrobial peptides, from genes to applications. Drider D and Rebuffat S (eds), pp. 115-143, Springer Science+Business media (www.springer.com).
- Christensen S and Kolomiets M, 2011. The lipid language of plant-fungal interactions. Fungal Gen. Boil. 48, 4-14.
- Ciecko S and Scher R, 2010. Invasive fungal rhinitis caused by *Paecilomyces lilacinus* infection: report of a case and a novel treatment. Ent-Ear Nose Throat J. 89, 12, 594-595.
- Clementi F and Aquilanti L, 2011. Recent investigations and updated criteria for the assessment of antibiotic resistance in food lactic acid bacteria. Anaerobe *in press*.
- Cocconcelli PS, Cativelli D and Gazzola S, 2004. Gene transfer of vancomycin and tetracycline resistances among *Enterococcus faecalis* during cheese and sausage fermentation. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 88, 315-323.
- Costa-Riu N, Burkovski, A, Krämer R and Benz R. 2003. Por A represents the major cell wall channel of the gram-positive bacterium *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. J. Bact. 185, 4779 4786.
- Cousin FJ, Mater DDG, Foligné B and Jan G, 2011. Dairy propionibacteria as human probiotics: A review of recent evidence. Dairy Sci. Technol. 91, 1-26.
- Coutte F, Leclere V, Bechet M, Guez JS, Lecouturier D, Chollet-Imbert M, Dhulster P and Jacques P, 2010. Effect of pps disruption and constitutive expression of srfA on surfactin productivity, spreading and antagonistic properties of *Bacillus subtilis* 168 derivatives. J. Appl. Microbiol. 109. 2, 480-491.
- Cvetnic Z and Pepeljnjak S, 1997. Distribution and mycotoxin-producing ability of some fungal isolates from the air. Atmospheric Environ. 31, 3, 491-495.
- Dai L, Wu C-M, Wang M-G, Wang Y, Wang Y, Huang S-Y, Xia L-N, Li B-B and Shen J-Z, 2010. First report of the multidrug resistance gene cfr and the phenical resistance gene fexA in a *Bacillus* strain from swine feces. Antimicrob. Agents Chemoth. 54, 9, 3953-3955.
- Degenkolb T, Dieckmann R, Nielsen KF, Gräfenhan T, Theis C, Zafari D, Chaverri P, Ismaiel A, Brückner H, von Döhren H, Thrane U, Petrini O and Samuels GJ, 2008. The *Trichoderma*



- brevicompactum clade: a separate lineage with new species, new peptaibiotics, and mycotoxins. Mycol. Progr. 7, 177-219.
- de Llanos R, Llopis S, Molero G, Querol A, Gil C and Fernández-Espinar MT, 2011. In vivo virulence of commercial *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains with pathogenicity-associated phenotypical traits. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 5, 144, 3, 393-399.
- Delorme C, Bartholini C, Bolotine A, Dusko Ehrlich S and Renault P, 2010. Emergence of a cell wall protease in the *Streptococcus thermophilus* population. Appl. Environm. Microbiol. 76, 2, 451-460.
- Dietrich F, Voegeli S, Brachat S, Lerch A, Gates K, Steiner S, Mohr C, Pöhlmann R, Luedi P, Choi S, Wing R, Flavier A, Gaffney T and Philippsen P, 2004. The *Ashbya gossypii* genome as a tool for mapping the ancient *Saccharomyces cerevisisae* genome. Science 304, 304-307.
- Doğan M and Baysal B, 2010. Identification of anaerobic bacteria isolated from various clinical specimens and determination of antibiotic susceptibilities. Mikrobiyol Bul. 44, 2, 211-219.
- Doi A, Nakajo K, Kamiya T and Ohkusu K, 2010. Splenic abscess caused by *Lactobacillus paracasei*. J. Infect. Chemother. 17, 1, 122-125.
- Doyle MP and Erickson MC, 2011. Opportunities for mitigating pathogen contamination during onfarm food production. Int. J. Food Microbiol. *In press*.
- EFSA, 2005. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on a request from EFSA related to a generic approach to the safety assessment by EFSA of microorganisms used in food/feed and the production of food/feed additives. The EFSA Journal 226, 1-12.
- EFSA, 2007. Scientific Opinion of the Scientific Committee on the introduction of a Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) approach for assessment of selected microorganisms referred to EFSA. The EFSA Journal 578, 1-16.
- EFSA, 2008a. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards on the maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed. The EFSA J. 923, 1-48.
- EFSA, 2008b. Technical guidance. Update of the criteria used in the assessment of bacterial resistance to antibiotics of human or veterinary importance. Prepared by the Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feeds. The EFSA J. 732, 1-15.
- EFSA. 2009. Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed (2009 update). EFSA J. 7, 1431-1523.
- EFSA, 2010. EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food and feed (2010 update). EFSA Journal 8, 12,1944. [56 pp.]
- EFSA, 2011a. Scientific Opinion on the modification to the formulation of GalliPro[®] and compatibility with formic acid. EFSA Journal 9, 3, 2112 [7 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011b. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 for chickens reared for laying, ducks for fattening, quails, pheasants, partridges, guinea fowl, pigeons, geese for fattening and ostriches. EFSA Journal 9, 3, 2114 [8 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011c. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of InteSwine® (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) as a feed additive for weaned piglets. EFSA Journal 9, 5, 2173 [10 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011d. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus plantarum* (DSM 21762) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 3, 2113 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011e, Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus buchneri* (DSM 22963) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 4, 2138 [11 pp.].



- EFSA, 2011f. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus plantarum* (NCIMB 30236) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 6, 2275 [2 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011g. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of BioPlus 2B (*Bacillus licheniformis* DSM 5749 and *Bacillus subtilis* DSM 5750) as a feed additive for sows. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2356 [10 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011h. Scientific Opinion on Animavit[®] (*Bacillus subtilis* CBS 117162) as feed additive for piglets and pigs for fattening. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2375 [14 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011i. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus buchneri* (DSM 16774) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2359 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011j. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus buchneri* (DSM 12856) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2361 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011k. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus plantarum* (DSM 12837) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2362 [10 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011l. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus paracasei* (DSM 16245) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2363 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011m. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Pediococcus acidilactici* (DSM 16243) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2364 [11 pp.]
- EFSA, 2011n. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (NCIMB 30121) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2365 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011o. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactococcus lactis* (NCIMB 30160) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2366 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011p. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus plantarum* (DSM 12836) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2367 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011q. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus paracasei* (DSM 16773) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2370 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011r. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactobacillus brevis* (DSM 12835) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2368 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011s. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Pediococcus pentosaceus* (DSM 12834) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2369 [11 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011t. Scientific Opinion on the safety and efficacy of *Lactococcus lactis* (DSM 11037) as a silage additive for all species. EFSA Journal 9, 9, 2374 [2 pp.].
- EFSA, 2011u. EFSA approaches to risk assessment in the area of antimicrobial resistance, with an emphasis on commensal microorganisms. Technical Report of EFSA. EFSA Journal 2011, 9, 10, 196.
- Engel K-H, Vogel RF, Knorr D, Habermeyer M, Kochte-Clemens B and Eisenbrand G, 2011. The role of the concept of "history of safe use" in the safety assessment of novel foods and novel food ingredients. Opinion of the Senate Commission on Food Safety (SKLM) of the German Research Foundation (DFG). Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 55, 957-963.
- Fell JW, Scorzetti G, Statzell-Tallman A and Boundy-Mills K, 2007. Molecular diversity and intragenomic variability in the yeast genus *Xanthophyllomyces*: the origin of *Phaffia rhodozyma*? FEMS Yeast Res. 7, 8, 1399-1408.
- Fenicia L, Franciosa G, Pourshaban M and Aureli P, 1999. Intestinal toxemia botulism in two young people, caused by Clostridium butyricum type E. Clin. Infect. Dis. 29, 6, 1381-1387.



- Ferraris L, Butel MJ and Aires J, 2010. Antimicrobial susceptibility and resistance determinants of *Clostridium butyricum* isolates from preterm infants. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents. 36, 420-423.
- Ferreira CL, Magalhães M, Gueimonde M and Salminen S, 2011. Probiotics: from origin to labeling from a European and Brazilian perspective. Chapter 5, pp. 75-87. In: Probiotics and health claims. Kneifel W and Salminen S (eds.), Wiley-Blackwell, www.wiley-blackwell/wiley-blackwell.
- Fjelsted A and Ehlers R-U, 2011. Proposals on how to accelerate registration, in 'Regulation of biological control agents', Ehlers R-U (ed.), Elsevier, pp 375-405.
- Flórez AB, Tosi L, Danielsen M, von Wright A, Bardowski J, Morelli L and Mayo B, 2008. Resistance,-susceptibility profiles of *Lactococcus lactis* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* strains to eight antibiotics and proposition of new cut-offs. Int. J. Prob. Preb. 3, 249-256.
- Forssten SD, Sindelar CW and Ouwehand AC, 2011a. Probiotics from an industrial perspective. Anaerobe *in press*.
- Forssten SD, Lahtinen SJ and Ouwehand AC, 2011b. The intestinal microbiota and probiotics. Chapter 2, pp. 41-63. Malago JJ et al. (eds.), Probiotic bacteria and enteric infections, DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-0386-5 Springer Science Business Media B.V.
- Fort M, Sibila M, Pérez-Martín E, Nofrarías M, Mateu E and Segalés J, 2009. One dose of a porcine circovirus 2 (PCV2) sub-unit vaccine administered to 3-week-old conventional piglets elicits cell-mediated immunity and significantly reduces PCV2 viremia in an experimental model. Vaccine 27, 4031-4037.
- Freitas AR, Coque TM, Novais C, Hammerum AM, Lester CH, Zervos MJ, Donabedian S, Jensen LB, Francia MV, Baquero F and Peixe L, 2011. Human and swine hosts share vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* CC17 and CC5 and *Enterococcus faecalis* CC2 clonal clusters harboring Tn1546 on indistinguishable plasmids. J. Clin. Microbiol. 49, 3, 925-931.
- Ganner A, Stoiber C, Wieder D and Schatzmayr, 2010. Quantitative in vivo assay to evaluate the capability of yeast cell fractions from *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* to selectively bind gramnegative pathogens. J. Microbiol. Meth. 83, 168-174.
- Gardiner D, Kazan K, Praud S, Torney F, Rusu A and Manners J, 2010. Early activation of wheat polyamine biosynthesis during *Fusarium* head blight implicates putrescine as an inducer of trichothecene mycotoxin production. BCM Plant Biol. 10, 289, 2-13. Downloaded on 12 October 2011 at www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2229/10/289.
- Germida JJ and Casida LE, 1983. *Ensifer adhaerens* predatory activity against other bacteria in soil, as monitored by indirect phage analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45. 4, 1380-1388.
- Glickman D., Sprecher H. Chernokozinsky A and Weintraub Z, 2010. *Lactococcus lactis* catether-related bacteremia in an infant. Infection. 38, 145-146.
- Goyache J, Vela AI, Gibello A, Blanco MA, Briones V, Gonzáles S, Téllez S, Ballestros C, Dominguez L and Fernández-Garrayzábal JF, 2006. *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* infection in waterfowl: First confirmation in animals. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 7, 884-886.
- Gueimonde M, Belén Flórez A, van Hoek AHAM, Stuer-Lauridsen B, Strøman P, de los Reyes-Gavilán CG and Margolles A, 2010. Genetic basis of tetracycline resistance in *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 10, 3364-3369.
- Gupta RS and Gao B, 2009. Phylogenomic analyses of clostridia and identification of novel protein signatures that are specific to the genus *Clostridium* sensu stricto (cluster I). Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 59, 285-294.
- Han J., Na K., 2010. Cutaneous paecilomycosis caused by *Paecilomyces variotii* in an African pygmy hedgehog (*Atelerix albiventris*). J. Exotic Pet Medecine 19, 4, 309-312.



- Harper DM, 2009. Curently approved prophylactic HPV vaccines. Expert Rev. Vaccines 8, 1663-1679.
- Hauser D, Gibert M, Boquet P and Popoff MR, 1992. Plasmid localization of a type E botulinal neurotoxin gene homologue in toxigenic *Clostridium butyricum* strains, and absence of this gene in non-toxigenic *C. butyricum* strains. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 1, 78,2-3, 251-255.
- Hawksworth DL, Crous PW, Redhead SA, Reynolds DR, Samson RA, Seifert KA, Taylor JW, Wingfield MJ, Abaci Ö, Aime C, Asan A, Bai F-Y, de Beer ZW, Begerow D, Berikten D, Boekhout T, Buchanan PK, Burgess T, Buzina W, Cai L, Cannon PF, Crane JL, Damm U, Daniel H-M, van Diepeningen AD, Druzhinina I, Dyer PS, Eberhardt U, Fell JW, Frisvad JC, Geiser DM, Geml J, Glienke C, Gräfenhan T, Groenewald JZ, Groenewald M, de Gruyter J, Guého-Kellermann E, Guo L-D, Hibbett DS, Hong S-B, de Hoog GS, Houbraken J, Huhndorf SM, Hyde KD, Ismail A, Johnston PR, Kadaifciler DG, Kirk PM, Kõljalg U, Kurtzman CP, Lagneau P-E, Lévesque CA, Liu X, Lombard L, Meyer W, Miller A, Minter DW, Najafzadeh MJ, Norvell L, Ozerskaya SM, Öziç R, Pennycook SR, Peterson SW, Pettersson OV, Quaedvlieg W, Robert VA, Ruibal C, Schnürer J, Schroers H-J, Shivas R, Slippers B, Spierenburg H, Takashima M, Taşkın E, Thines M, Thrane U, Uztan AH, van Raak M, Varga J, Vasco A, Verkley G, Videira SIR, de Vries RP, Weir BS, Yilmaz N, Yurkov A and Zhang N, 2011. The Amsterdam Declaration on Fungal Nomenclature. IMA Fungus 2, 1, 105-112.
- Health Canada, 1999. Novel Food Information Food Biotechnology: Virus resistant squash line CZW-3. FD/OFB-098-106-A, 3pp.
- Hegstad K, Mikalsen T, Coque TM, Werner G and Sundsfjord A, 2010. Mobile genetic elements and their contribution to the emergence of antimicrobial resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium*. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 16, 6, 541-554.
- Hickey P, Sutton D, Fothergill A, Rinaldi M, Wickes B, Schmidt H and Walsh T, 2009. *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans*, a novel respiratory pathogen in patients with cystic fibrosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 47, 10, 3091-3097.
- Hofmann C and Strauss M, 1998. Baculovirus-mediated gene transfer in the presence of human serum or blood facilitated by inhibition of the complement system. Gene Ther. 5, 531-536.
- Houbraken J, Verweij P, Rijs A, Borman A and Samson R, 2010. Identification of *Paecilomyces variotii* in clinical samples and settings. J. Clin. Microbiol. 48, 8, 2754-2761.
- Hu YC, 2008. Baculovirus vectors for gene delivery: a review. Current Gene Therapy 8, 54-65.
- Hummel AS, Hertel C, Holzapfel WH and Franz CM, 2007. Antibiotic resistances of starter and probiotic strains of lactic acid bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 730-739.
- ISO/DIS 10932/IDF223. 2010. Milk and milk products Determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of antibiotics applicable to bifidobacteria and non-enterococcal lactic acid bacteria (LAB). International Organisation for Standardisation, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Ishiyama K, Yamazaki H, Senda Y, Yamauchi H and Nakao S, 2011. *Leuconostoc* bacteremia in three patients with malignancies. J. Infect. Chemother. 2011 17, 3, 412-418.
- Ito A, Hayashi M, Hamasaki T and Ebisu S, 2011. Risk assessment of dental caries by using Classification and Regression Trees. J. Dent. 39, 6, 457-463.
- Jehle JA, Blissard GW, Bonning BC, Cory JS, Herniou EA, Rohrmann GF, Theilmann DA, Thiem SM and Vlak JM, 2006. On the classification and nomenclature of baculoviruses: A proposal for revision. Arch. Virol. 151, 1257-1266.
- Johnsson Holmsberg A-I, 2011. Tracking the fate of biocontrol microorganisms in the environment using intrinsic SCAR markers. Doctoral Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.



- Izawa N, Serata M, Sone T, Omasa T and Ohtake H, 2011. Hyaluronic acid production by recombinant *Streptococcus thermophilus*. J. Biosci. Bioengin. 111, 6, 665-670.
- Kanasi E, Dewhirst FE, Chalmers NI, Kent R Jr, Moore A, Hughes CV, Pradhan N, Loo CY and Tanner AC, 2010. Clonal analysis of the microbiota of severe early childhood caries. Caries Res. 44, 5, 485-497.
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, Redfern CH, Ferrari AC, Dreicer R, Sims RB, Xu Y, Frohlich MW and Schellhammer PF, 2010. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 363, 411–422.
- Kastner S, Perreten V, Bleuler H, Hugenschmidt G, Lacroix C and Meile L, 2006. Antibiotic susceptibility patterns and resistance genes of starter cultures and probiotic bacteria used in food. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 29, 145-155.
- Kim HS, Park DW, Youn YK, Jo YM, Kim JY, Song JY, Sohn J-W, Cheong HJ, Kim WJ, Kim MJ and Choi WS, 2010. Liver abscess and empyema due to *Lactococcus lactis cremoris*. J. Korena Med. Sci. 25, 1669 -1671.
- King AMQ, Adams MJ, Carstens EB and Lefkowitz EJ, 2011. Virus Taxonomy: Ninth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Elsevier Academic Press, 1327pp.
- Kiss L, 2003. A review of fungal antagonists of powdery mildews and their potential as biocontrol agents, Pest Management Sci. 59, 475-483.
- Kiss L, Russell JC, Szentivanyi O, Xu X and Jeffries P, 2004. Biology and biocontrol potential of Ampelomyces mycoparasites, natural antagonists of powdery mildew fungi. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 14, 7, 635-651.
- Kiss L, Pintye A, Kovacs G, Jankovics T, Fontaine M, Harvey N, Xu X, Nicot P, Bardin M, Shykoff J and Giraud T, 2011. Temporal isolation explains host-related genetic differentiation in a group of widespread mycoparasitic fungi. Mol. Ecol. 20, 1492-1507.
- Klare I, Konstabel C, Werner G, Huys G, Vankerckhoven V, Kahlmeter G, Hildebrandt B, Müller-Bertling S, Witte W and Goossens H, 2007. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Lactobacillus*, *Pediococcus* and *Lactococcus* human isolates and cultures intended for probiotic or nutritional use. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 59, 900-912.
- Klein G, 2011a. Molecular characterization of the probiotic strain *Bacillus cereus* var. toyoi NCIMB 40112 and differentiation from food poisoning strains. J. Food Protec. 74, 7, 1189-1193.
- Klein G, 2011b. Antibiotic resistance and molecular characterization of probiotic and clinical *Lactobacillus strains* in relation to safety aspects of probiotics. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 8, 2, 267-81.
- Kneifel W, 2011. Probiotic products: How can they meet requirements? Chapter 18, pp. 271-282. In: Probiotics and health claims. Kneifel W and Salminen S (eds.), Wiley-Blackwell, www.wiley-blackwell.
- Kneist S, Schmidt F, Callaway A, Willershausen B, Rupf S, Wicht M and Thiede B, 2010. Diversity of *Lactobacillus* species in deep carious lesions of primary molars. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 11, 4, 181-6. Erratum in: Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 11, 5, 262.
- Kochar N, Tripathi D, Arestis NJ, Ireland H, Redhead DN and Hayes PC, 2010. Tipsitis: incidence and outcome-a single centre experience. Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 22, 6, 729-735.
- Krones E, Halilbasic E, Grisold A, Krause R, Trauner M, Fickert P and Zollner G, 2010. Acute hepatitis species as a result of contamination of a food supplement with cytotoxin-producing *Bacillus* species. Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift 122, 17-18, A10-A11.
- Kuiper, HA, Kleter GA, Noteborn HPJM and Kok EJ, 2001. Assessment of the food safety issues related to genetically modified foods. The Plant J. 27, 503-528.



- Kurtzman CP, Fell JW and Boekhout T. (Eds.), 2011. The Yeasts, a Taxonomic Study. Fifth Edition. Elsevier.
- Ladero V, Rattray FG, Mayo B, Cruz Martín M, Fernández M and Alvarez MA, 2011, Sequencing and transcriptional analysis of the biosynthesis gene cluster of putrescine-producing *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 18, 6409-6418.
- Laengle T and Strasser H, 2010. Developing a risk indicator to comparatively assess environmental risk posed by microbial and conventional pest control agents. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 20, 7, 659-681.
- La Gioia F, Rizzotti L, Rossi F, Gardini F, Tabanelli G and Torriani S, 2011. Identification of a tyrosine decarboxylase gene (tdcA) in *Streptococcus thermophilus* 1TT45 and analysis of its expression and tyramine production in milk. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 3, 1140-1144.
- Leclerq T and Courvalin P, 2005. *Enterococcus*. P. 299-213. In D. G. White, M. N. Alekshun, and P. F. McDermott (ed.) Frontiers in Antimicrobial Resistance. ASM Press. Washington, DC.
- Lin K-H, Sy SL, Chen C-S, Lee C-H, Lion Y-T and Li J-Y, 2010. Infective endocarditis complicated by intracerebral hemorrhage due to *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris*. Infection 38, 147-149.
- Liu C, Zhang Z-Y, Dong K, Yuan J-P and Guo X-K, 2009. Antibiotic resistance of probiotic strains of lactic acid bacteria isolated from marketed foods and drugs. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 5, 401-412.
- Liu J, Zhou T, He D, Li, X Z, Wu H J, Liu W and Gao XW, 2011. Functions of lipopeptides Bacillomycin D and Fengycin in antagonism of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* C06 towards *Monilinia fructicola*. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 20, 1, 43-52.
- Long KS, Poehlsgaard J, Kehrenberg C, Schwarz S and Vester B, 2006. The Cfr rRNA methyltransferase confers resistance to phenicols, lincosamides, oxazolidinones, pleuromutilins, and streptogramin A antibiotics. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50, 2500-2505.
- López AC and Alippi AM, 2009. Diversity of *Bacillus megaterium* isolates cultured from honeys. Lwt-Food Sci. Technol. 42, 1, 212-219.
- Lopez AC and Alippi AM, 2010. Enterotoxigenic gene profiles of *Bacillus cereus* and *Bacillus megaterium* isolates recovered from honey. Revista Argentina de Microbiologia 42, 3, 216-225.
- Madsen AM, 2011. Occupational exposure to microorganisms used as biocontrol agents in plant production. Front Biosci. 3, 606-620.
- Magan N, Medina A and Aldred, 2011. Possible climate-change effects on mycotoxin contamination of food crops pre-and postharvest. Plant Pathol. 60, 150-163.
- Masunaka A, Sekiguchi H, Takahashi H and Takenaka S, 2010. Distribution and expression of elicitin-like protein genes of the biocontrol agent *Pythium oligandrum*. J. Phytopathol. 158, 6, 417-426.
- Mathias MF and Simionato MR, 2011. Some factors associated with dental caries in the primary dentition of children with Down syndrome. Eur. J. Paediatr. Dent. 12, 1, 37-42.
- Mayo MA, 1999. Developments in plant virus taxonomy since the publication of the 60th ICTV Report. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Arch. Virol. 144, 1659-1666. [www.ictvonline.org]
- Mayrhofer S, Mair C, Kneifel W and Domig KJ, 2011. Susceptibility of Bifidobacteria of animal origin to selected antimicrobial agents. Chemother. Res. Practice *in press*.
- McNeill J, Barrie FR, Burdet HM, Demoulin V, Hawksworth DL, Marhold K, Nicolson DH, Prado J, Silva PC, Skog J, Wiersema J and Turland N (eds.), 2006. International Code of Botanical Nomenclature (Vienna Code) adopted by the Seventeenth International Botanical Congress, 2005.



- [Regnum Vegetabile Vol. 146.] Pp. xviii + 568. A. R. G. Ganter Verlag, Ruggel, Lichtenstein. http://ibot.sav.sk/icbn/main.htm downloaded on 9th August 2011.
- Meieregger A, Mayrhuber E and Lettner HP, 2011. Probiotics and health claims: the perspective of the feed industry. Chapter 15, pp. 223-248. In: Probiotics and health claims. Kneifel W and Salminen S (eds.), Wiley-Blackwell, www.wiley-blackwell/wiley-blackwell.
- Merabet C, Martens M, Mahdhi M, Zakhia F, Sy A, Le Roux C, Domergue O, Coopman R, Bekki A, Mars M, Willems A and de Lajudie P, 2010. Multilocus sequence analysis of root nodule isolates from Lotus arabicus (Senegal), Lotus creticus, *Argyrolobium uniflorum* and *Medicago sativa* (Tunisia) and description of *Ensifer numidicus* sp nov and *Ensifer garamanticus* sp nov. Int. J. Syst. Evolut. Microbiol. 60, 664-674.
- Miceli MH, Díaz JA and Lee SA, 2011. Emerging opportunistic yeast infections. Lancet Infect. Dis. 11, 142–151.
- Mohamed-Benkada M, Montagu M., Biard JF, Mondeguer F, Verite P, Dalgarondo M, Bisset J and Pouchus Y, 2006. New short peptaibols from a marine *Trichoderma* strain, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 20, 1176-1180.
- Moslehi-Jenabian S, Lindegaard Pedersen L and Jespersen L, 2010. Beneficial effects of probiotic and food borne yeasts on human health. Nutrients 2, 449-473.
- Motley WW, Melson AT and Mortensen JE, 2011. Pediatric *Metarrhizium anisopliae* keratitis. J. Aapos. 15, 1, 101-103.
- Murray BE, 1990. The life and times of the *Enterococcus*. Clin. Microb. Rev. 3, 46-65.
- Nagarajappa S and Prasad KV, 2010. Oral microbiota, dental caries and periodontal status in smokeless tobacco chewers in Karnataka, India: a case-control study. Oral Health Prev. Dent. 8, 3, 211-219.
- Nawaz M, Wang J, Zhou A, Ma C, Wu X, Moore JE, Millar BC and Xu J, 2011. Characterization and transfer of antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria from fermented food products. Curr. Microbiol. 62, 3, 1081-1089.
- Neela FA, Nonaka L, Rahman MH and Suzuki S, 2009. Transfer of the chromosomally encoded tetracycline resistance gene tet(M) from marine bacteria to *Escherichia coli* and *Enterococcus faecalis*. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 25, 1095-1101.
- Nielsen KF, Gräfenhan T, Zafari D and Thrane U, 2005. Trichothecene production by *Trichoderma brevicompactum*. J. Agri. Food Chem. 53, 8190-8196.
- Nikolakopoulou TL, Giannoutsou EP, Karabatsou AA and Karagouni AD, 2008, Prevalence of tetracycline resistance genes in Greek seawater habitats. J. Microbiol. 46, 633-640.
- Noti F, Zimmerli S, Goerre S, Carrel T and Suter T, 2009. [Does yoghurt gnaw at cardiac valves?]. Praxis (Bern 1994). 98, 10, 547-550.
- Official Journal, 1991. Council Directive (EC) No 91/414/EEC of 15 July 1991 concerning the placing on of plant protection products on the market. Official Journal 19.08.1991, L 230, 1-32.
- Official Journal of the European Union, 2003. Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition. Official Journal of the European Union 18.10.2003, L 268, 29-43.
- Official Journal of the European Union, 2009. Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and repealing Council Directives 79/117/EEC and 91/414/EEC. Official Journal of the European Union 24.11.2009, L 309, 1-49.



- Ouwehand AC, Svendsen LS and Leyer G, 2011. Probiotics: from strain to product. Chapter 3, pp. 37-48. In: Probiotics and health claims. Kneifel W and Salminen S (eds.), Wiley-Blackwell, www.wiley-blackwell/wiley-blackwell.
- Pagiotti R, Angelini P, Rubini A, Tirillini B, Granetti B and Venanzoni R, 2010. Identification and characterisation of human pathogenic filamentous fungi and susceptibility to thymus schimperi essential oil. Mycoses 54, 5, e364-e376.
- Park M, Choi Y, Hong S and Shin H, 2010. Genetic variability and mycohosts association of Ampelomyces quisqualis isolates inferred from phylogenetic analyses of ITS rDNA and actin gene sequences. Fungal Biol. 114, 235-247.
- Park B, Park J, Cheong K, Choi J, Jung K, Kim D, Lee Y, Ward T, O'Donnell K, Geiser D and Kang S, 2011. Cyber infrastructures for Fusarium: Three integrated platforms supporting strain identification, phylogenetics, comparative genomics and knowledge sharing. Nucleic Acid Res. 39, 640-646.
- Paraud C, Lorrain R, Pors I and Chartier C, 2011. Administration of the nematophagous fungus *Duddingtonia flagrans* to goats: an evaluation of the impact of this fungus on the degradation of faeces and on free-living soil nematodes. J. Helminthol. *In press*.
- Pasquali M, Giraud F, Brochot C, Cocco E, Hoffmann L and Bohn T, 2010. Genetic *Fusarium* chemotyping as a useful tool for predicting nivalenol contamination in winter wheat. International J. Food Microbiol. 137, 246-253.
- Patel AK, Michaud P, Singhania RR, Soccol CR and Pandey A, 2010. Polysaccharides from probiotics: New developments as food additives. Food Technol. Biotechnol. 48, 4, 451-463.
- Peck MW, 2009. Biology and genomic analysis of *Clostridium botulinum*. Review. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 55, 183-265, 320.
- Pei-Chen W, Chien-Hsiung L, Hsin-Yuan T, Ma D and Hsiao C, 2010. The successful medical treatment of a case of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* keratitis. Cornea 29, 3, 357-358.
- Phelan RW, Clarke C, Morrissey JP, Dobson AD, O'Gara F and Barbosa TM, 2011. Tetracycline resistance-encoding plasmid from *Bacillus* sp. strain #24, isolated from the marine sponge *Haliclona simulans*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 1, 327-329.
- Pilet M-F and Leroi F, 2011. Applications of protective cultures, bacteriocins and bacteriophages in fresh seafood and seafood products. In Protective cultures, antimicrobial metabolites and bacteriophages for food and beverage biopreservation. Lacroix C (ed.), Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition No. 201, ISBN-13: 978 1 84569 669 6, Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- Prillinger H, Messner R, Konig H, Bauer R, Lopandic K, Molnar O, Dangel P, Weigang F, Kirisits T, Nakase T and Sigler L, 1996. Yeasts associated with termites: a phenotypic and genotypic characterization and use of coevolution for dating evolutionary radiation in Asco-and Basidiomycetes. System. Appl. Microbiol. 19, 265-283.
- Raaijmakers JM, de Bruijn I, Nybroe O and Ongena M, 2010. Natural functions of lipopeptides from *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas*: more than surfactants and antibiotics. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 34, 6, 1037-1062.
- Rehner SA, Minnis D, Sung GH, Luangsa-Ard JJ, Devotto L and Humber RA, 2011. Phylogeny and systematics of the anamorphic, entomopathogenic genus *Beauveria*. Mycologia 103, 5, 1055-1073.
- Ren J, Xue C, Tian L, Xu M, Chen J, Deng Z, Proksch P and Lin W, 2009. Asperelines A-F, peptaibols from the marine-derived fungus *Trichoderma asperellum*. J. Nat Prod. 72, 6, 1036-1044.



- Rivera-Gonzalez GC, Swift SL, Dussupt V, Georgopoulos LJ and Maitland NJ, 2011. Baculoviruses as gene therapy vectors for human prostate cancer. J. Invert. Pathol. 107, S5970.
- Rizzotti L, La Gioia F, Dellaglio F and Torriani S, 2009. Characterization of tetracycline-resistant *Streptococcus thermophilus* isolates from Italian soft cheeses. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 12, 4224-4229.
- Rizzotti L, Simeoni D, Cocconcelli P, Gazzola S, Dellaglio F and Torriani S, 2005. Contribution of enterococci to the spread of antibiotic resistance in the production chain of swine meat commodities. J. Food Prot. 68, 5, 955-965.
- Robin F, Paillard C, Marchandin H, Demeocq F, Bonnet R and Hennequin C, 2010. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* meningitis following recurrent episodes of bacteremia in a child undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J. Clin. Microbiol. 48, 11, 4317-4319.
- Rochon D, Heikkilä L and Belliveau B, 2009. Draft OECD Issue Paper 'Discussion on microbial contaminants limits for microbial pest control products' (2nd version), Health Evaluation Directorate, PMRA, Health Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, 34pp.
- Rogel MA, Hernandez-Lucas I, Kuykendall LD, Balkwill DL and Martinez-Romero E, 2001. Nitrogen-fixing nodules with *Ensifer adhaerens* harboring *Rhizobium tropici* symbiotic plasmids. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 7, 3264-3268.
- Rosmaninho A, Torres T, Velho G, Lopes V, Armorim I and Selores M, 2010. *Paecilomyces lilacinus* in transplant patients: an emerging infection. European J. Dermatology 20, 5, 643-644.
- Ruiz N, Petit K, Vansteelandt, Kerzaon I, Baudet J, Amzil Z, Biard JF, Grovel O and Pouchus Y, 2010. Enhancement of domoic acid neurotoxicity on Diptera larvae bioassy by marine fungal metabolites. Toxicon 55, 805-810.
- Russo A, Angeletti S, Lorino G, Venditti C, Falcone M, Dicuonzo G and Venditti M, 2010. A case of *Lactobacillus casei* bacteraemia associated with aortic dissection: is there a link? New Microbiol. 33, 2, 175-178.
- Salazar N, Binetti A, Gueimonde, Alonso A and Garrido P, 2011. Safety and intestinal microbiota modulation by the exopolysaccharide-producing strains *Bifidobacterium animalis* IPLA R1 and *Bifidobacterium longum* IPLA E44 orally administered to Wistar rats. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 144, 342-351.
- Sampietro DA, Marin P, Iglesias J, Presello DA, Vattuone MA, Catalan CAN and Jaen MTG, 2010. A molecular based strategy for rapid diagnosis of toxigenic *Fusarium* species associated to cereal grains from Argentina. Fungal Biol. 114, 1, 74-81.
- Samson RA, Noonim P, Meijer M, Houbraken J, Frisvad JC and Varga J, 2007. Diagnostic tools to identify black aspergilli. Studies in Mycol. 59, 129-145.
- Sanders ME and Levy DD, 2011. The science and regulations of probiotic food and supplement product labelling. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1219, S1, E1-E23.
- Sawada H, Kuykendall LD and Young JM, 2003. Changing concepts in the systematics of bacterial nitrogen-fixing legume symbionts. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 49, 3, 155-179.
- Saxelin M, Myllyluoma E and Korpela R, 2011. Developing LGG®Extra, a probiotic multispecies combination. Chapter 16, pp. 249-262. In: Probiotics and health claims. Kneifel W and Salminen S (eds.), Wiley-Blackwell, www.wiley-blackwell/wiley-blackwell.
- Schatzmayr G, Zehner F, Täubel M, Schatzmayr D, Klimitsch A, Loibner A and Binder M, 2006. Microbiologicals for deactivating mycotoxins, Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 50, 543-551.
- Scheepmaker JWA and Butt TM, 2010. Natural and release inoculum levels of entomopathogenic fungal biocontrol agents in soil in relation to risk assessment and in accordance with EU regulations. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 20, 5, 503-552.



- Schrank A and Vainstein MH, 2010. *Metarhizium anisopliae* enzymes and toxins. Toxicon 56, 7, 1267-1274.
- Schroeder K, Bremm KD, Alépée N, Bessems JGM, Blaauboer B, Boehn SN, Burek C, Coecke S, Gombau L, Hewitt NJ, Heylings J, Huwyler J, Jaeger M, Jagelavicius M, Jarrett N, Ketelslegers H, Kocina I, Koester J, Kreysa J, Note R, Poth A, Radtke M, Rogiers V, Scheel J, Schulz T, Steinkellner H, Toeroek M, Whelan M, Winkler P and Diembeck W, 2011. Report from the EPAA workshop: In vitro ADME in safety testing used by EPAA industry sectors. Toxicol. in Vitro 25, 589-604.
- Seff, L. B. 2009. Are herbals as safe as their advocates believe? J. Hepatol. 50, 13-16.
- Seitter (née Resch) M, Nerz C, Rosenstein R, Götz F and Hertel C, 2011. DNA microarray based detection of genes involved in safety and technologically relevant properties of food associated coagulase-negative staphylococci. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 145, 449-458.
- Stahmann K, Revuelta J and Seulberger H, 2000. Three biotechnical processes using *Ashbya gossypii*, *Candida famata*, or *Bacillus subtilis* compete with chemical riboflavin production. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 53, 5, 509-516.
- Stickel F, Droz S, Patsenker E, Bogli-Stuber K, Aebi B and Leib SL, 2009. Severe hepatotoxicity following ingestion of Herbalife (R) nutritional supplements contaminated with *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Hepatol. 50, 1, 111-117.
- Su S, Zeng X, Bai L, Jiang X and Li L, 2010. Bioaacumulation and biovolatilisation of pentavalent arsenic by *Penicillium janthinellum*, *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Trichoderma asperellum* under laboratory conditions. Curr. Microbiol. 61, 4, 261-266.
- Sugisawa T, Miyazaki T and Hoshino T, 2005. Microbial production of L-ascorbic acid from D-sorbitol, L-sorbose, L-gulose, and L-sorbosone by *Ketogulonicigenium vulgare* DSM 4025. Bioscience Biotechnol. Biochem. 69, 3, 659-662.
- Sullivan R and White J, 2000. Phoma glomerata as a mycoparasite of powdery mildew. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 425-427.
- Sundh I and Melin P, 2011. Safety and regulation of yeasts used for biocontrol or biopreservation in the food or feed chain. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 99, 113–119.
- Suomalainen T, Sigvart-Mattila P, Mättö J and Tynkkynen S, 2008. In vitro and in vivo gastrointestinal survival, antibiotic susceptibility and genetic identification of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* ssp. *shermanii* JS. Int. Dairy. J. 18, 271-278.
- Szarewski A, 2010. HPV vaccine: Cervarix. Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 10, 3, 477-487.
- Tabbene O, Kalai L, Slimene IB, Karkouch I, Elkahoui S, Gharbi A, Cosette P, Mangoni ML, Jouenne T and Limam F, 2011. Anti-Candida effect of bacillomycin D-like lipopeptides from *Bacillus subtilis* B38. Fems Microbiol. Lett. 316, 2, 108-114.
- Takahashi N and Nyvad B, 2011. The role of bacteria in the caries process: ecological perspectives. J. Dent. Res. 90, 294-303.
- Talon R and Leroy S, 2011. Diversity and safety hazards of bacteria involved in meat fermentations. Meat Sci. 89, 3, 303-309.
- Thasana N, Prapagdee B, Rangkadilok N, Sallabhan R, Aye SL, Ruchirawat S and Loprasert S, 2010. *Bacillus subtilis* SSE4 produces subtulene A, a new lipopeptide antibiotic possessing an unusual C15 unsaturated beta-amino acid. FEBS Lett. 584, 14, 3209-3214.
- Toomey N, Bolton D and Fanning S, 2010. Characterisation and transferability of antibiotic resistance genes from lactic acid bacteria isolated from Irish pork and beef abattoirs. Res. Microbiol. 161, 127-135.



- Tosi L, Berruti G, Danielsen M, Wind A, Huys G and Morelli L, 2007. Susceptibility of *Streptococcus thermophilus* to antibiotics. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 92, 1, 21-28.
- Trabelsi S, Hariga D and Khaled S, 2010. First case of *Trichoderma Longibrachiatum* infection in a renal transplant recipient in Tunisia and review of the literature. Tunis Med. 88, 1, 52-57.
- Tsuyuki R, Yoshinari T, Sakamoto N, Nagasawa H and Sakuda S, 2011. Enhanceemnt of trichothecene production in *Fusarium graminearum* by Cobalt Chloride. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 1760-1766.
- Urbance JW, Bratina BJ, Stoddars SF and Schmidt TM, 2001. Taxonomic characterization of *Ketogulonigenium vulgare* gen. nov., sp. nov. and *Ketogulonigenium robustum* sp. nov., which oxidize L-sorbose to 2-keto-L-gulonic acid. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 51, 1059-1070.
- Vekiru E, Hametner C, Mitterbauer R, Rechthaler J, Adam G, Schatzmayr G, Krska R and Schuhmacher R, 2010. Cleavage of zearalenone by *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans* to a novel nonestrogenic metabolite. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 7, 2353-2359.
- Vignaroli C, Zandri G, Aquilanti L, Pasquaroli S and Biavasco F, 2011. Multidrug-resistant enterococci in animal meat and faeces and co-transfer of resistance from an *Enterococcus durans* to a human *Enterococcus faecium*. Curr Microbiol. 62, 5, 1438-1447.
- Wang ET, Tan ZY, Willems A, Fernández-López M, Reinhold-Hurek B and Martínez-Romero E, 2002. *Sinorhizobium morelense* sp. nov., a *Leucaena leucocephala*-associated bacterium that is highly resistant to multiple antibiotics. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 52, 1687-1693.
- Westwood GS, Huang S-W and Keyhani NO, 2005. Allergens of the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria Bassania*. Clin. Mol. Allergy 3, 1, 1-8.
- White TC and Hoot SJ, 2011. Mechanisms of resistance to antifungal agents. In: Manual of Clinical Microbiology, pp. 2008-2019, 10th Edition, ASM Press, Washington DC,
- Wiedermann CJ, Stockner I and Plattner B, 2010. *Bacillus* species infective arthritis after knee arthroscopy. Surgical Inf. 11. 6, 555-558.
- Wijesinghe CJ, Wijeratnam RSW, Samarasekara J and Wijesundera R, 2010. Biological control of *Thielaviopsis paradoxa* on pineapple by an isolate of *Trichoderma asperellum*. Biol. Control 53, 3, 285-290.
- Willems A, Fernández-Lopez M, Muñoz-Adelantado E, Goris J, de Vos P, Martínez-Romero E, Toro N and Gillis M, 2003. Description of new *Ensifer* strains from nodules and proposal to transfer *Ensifer adhaerens* Casida 1982 to *Sinorhizobium* as *Sinorhizobium adhaerens* comb. nov. Request for an Opinion. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 53, 1207-1217.
- Xu F-L, Guo Y-C, Wang H-X, Fu P, Zeng H-W, Li Z-G, Pei X-Y and Liu X-M, 2011. PFGE genotyping and antibiotic resistance of *Lactobacillus* distributed strains in the fermented dairy products. Ann. Microbiol. *in press*.
- Yildiz E, Haresh A, Hammersmith K, Eagle R, Rapuano C and Cohen E, 2010. *Alternaria* and *Paecilomyces keratitis* associated with soft contact lens wear. Cornea 29, 5, 564-568.
- Young JM, 2003. The genus name Ensifer Casida 1982 takes priority over *Sinorhizobium* Chen et al. 1988, and *Sinorhizobium morelense* Wang et al. 2002 is a later synonym of *Ensifer adhaerens* Casida 1982. Is the combination '*Sinorhizobium adhaerens*' (Casida 1982) Willems et al. 2003 legitimate? Request for an Opinion. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 2003, 53, 2107-2110.
- Zago M, Fornasari ME, Carminati D, Burns P, Suàrez V, Vinderola G, Reinheimer J and Giraffa G, 2011. Characterization and probiotic potential of *Lactobacillus plantarum* strains isolated from cheeses. Food Microbiol. 28, 1033-1040.
- Zonenschain D, Rebecchi A and Morelli L, 2009. Erythromycin- and tetracycline-resistant lactobacilli in Italian fermented dry sausages. J. Appl. Microbiol. 107, 1559-1568.



APPENDIX

A. MICROBIAL SPECIES FROM PREVIOUS NOTIFICATIONS AND AS NOTIFIED TO EFSA

EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
	Bacteria			
FEEDAP	Actinoplanes utahensis	Production of acarbose	EFSA-Q-2007-172 The EFSA Journal (2008) 839, 1-40 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/839.htm	No body of knowledge, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008). Full safety assessment was performed in FEEDAP Opinion.
FEEDAP	Actinomadura yumaensis	Production of maduramicin ammonium	EFSA-Q-2008-757 The EFSA Journal (2011) 9(1):1954 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1954.pdf	Actinomadura yumaensis produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
FEEDAP	Alcaligenes acidovorans = Ralstonia sp.	Biomass for animal feed	EFSA-Q-2004-171 The EFSA Journal (2005) 230, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620784006.htm	No body of knowledge, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008). Full safety assessment was performed in FEEDAP Opinion.
FEEDAP	Bacillus amyloliquefaciens	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2007-190 The EFSA Journal (2008) 773, 1-13 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1211902039267.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00825 EFSA Journal 2010;8(12):1918 [2 pp.]. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1918.htm	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
			EFSA-Q-2011-00389 (In progress)	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Bacillus amyloliquefaciens	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2007-0020 (GMM): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1156.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2007-112: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1154.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00470: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1949.htm Other applications EFSA-Q-2010-01295 (under consideration) EFSA-Q-2010-01297 (under consideration) FAD-2010-0367 (formal mandate to arrive)	
Pesticides	Bacillus amyloliquefaciens subspecies plantarum strain D747	Plant protection product	No Draft Assessment Report received – no EFSA Question yet	
FEEDAP	Bacillus brevis = Aneurinibacillus and Brevibacillus species Strains from B. brevis are now mostly Brevibacillus species and some are Aneurinibacillus species	Biomass for animal feed	EFSA-Q-2004-171 The EFSA Journal (2005) 230, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620784006.htm	No sufficient body of knowledge and safety concern because of antibiotic production. Therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008). It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA (2010).



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Bacillus cereus var. toyoi = B. cereus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2003-086 The EFSA Journal (2004) 62, 1-5 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783486.htm EFSA-Q-2005-021 The EFSA Journal (2005) 288, 1-7 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783657.htm EFSA-Q-2006-037 The EFSA Journal (2007) 458, 1-9 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620781828.htm EFSA-Q-2007-090 The EFSA Journal (2008) 549, 1-11 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178647331659.htm EFSA-Q-2008-287 The EFSA Journal (2008) 913, 1-13 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1211902299515.htm EFSA-Q-2010-01095 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00832 (in progress)	QPS status inapplicable for the group of <i>B. cereus</i> strains (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix B, EFSA, 2008). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Bacillus coagulans	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Bacillus firmus = Brevibacillus agri	Biomass for animal feed	EFSA-Q-2004-171 The EFSA Journal (2005) 230, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620784006.htm	No body of knowledge, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA 2008). It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA (2010).
Pesticides	Bacillus firmus I-1582	Plant protection product	New active substance. Draft assessment report received. No EFSA question number yet	A reassessed of this species will be carried in the QPS 2012 review.
FEEDAP	Bacillus lentus	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
FEEDAP	Bacillus lentus	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2006-004: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/412.pdf	
SCF Opinion 22 June 2000	Bacillus licheniformis	Production of b- cyclodextrin (food additive carrier and stabiliser of food flavours, food colours and some vitamins)		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
FEEDAP	Bacillus licheniformis	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2005-090: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/351.htm EFSA-Q_2006-0181: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/451.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00139 (GMM, in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2008-431 (GMM): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1185.htm	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Bacillus licheniformis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-136 (adopted) EFSA Journal 2011;9(9):2356 [10 pp.]. http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/235 6.htm EFSA-Q-2007-166 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00970 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00680 (in progress)	Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
FEEDAP	Bacillus megaterium	Production of vitamin C	EFSA-Q-2010-01290 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
FEEDAP	Bacillus pumilus	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
Pesticides	Bacillus pumilus strain QST 2808	Plant protection product	No Draft Assessment Report received – no EFSA Question yet.	



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
FEEDAP	(current taxonomy where different) Bacillus subtilis	Feed additive	EFSA-2003-008 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/6.htm EFSA-Q-2004-174 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/272.htm EFSA-Q-2005-150 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/336.htm EFSA-Q-2005-237	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007). Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).
			The EFSA Journal (2006) 336, 1-15 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/406.htm EFSA-Q-2006-136 (adopted) EFSA Journal 2011;9(9):2356 [10 pp.]. http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/235 6.htm EFSA-Q-2007-166 (in progress)	
		EFSA-Q-2007-040 The EFSA Journal (2007) 543, 1-8 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/543.htm EFSA-Q-2008-473 EFSA Journal 2009; 7(9):1314 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1314.htm		
			EFSA-2008-771 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2375.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00533 EFSA Journal 2010; 8(1):1426 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1426.htm	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Bacillus subtilis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2009-00680 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00525 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00814 EFSA Journal 2010;8(10):1867 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1867.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-001151 EFSA Journal 2011;9(3):2112 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2112.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01150 EFSA Journal 2011;9(3):2114 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2114.htm	
FEEDAP	Bacillus subtilis	Production of vitamin B2	EFSA-Q-2010-00991 (GMM, in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-01319 (GMM, in progress)	
FEEDAP	Bacillus subtilis	Production of enzyme	FAD-2010-0367 (formal mandate to arrive) EFSA-Q-2007-0020: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1156.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2007-112: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1154.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00470: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1949.htm	
			Other applications: EFSA-2010-01298 (GMM in progress)	
Pesticides	Bacillus subtilis Strain QST 713	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-492 (In progress)	Qualification: Absence of toxigenic potential (see EFSA opinions, 2008, 2009, 2010). The possibility that new virulence factors, with activities different from those described previously could be discovered should be kept under attention (2008, 2009, 2010).



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
Pesticides	Bacillus subsp. thuringiensis aizawai (strains ABTS 1857 and GC-91) = Bacillus thuringiensis serovar aizawai	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00121 (In progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00247 (In progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_006494.htm]	Already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA opinion, 2007). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
Pesticides	Bacillus subsp. thuringiensis israelensis (serotype H-14), strain AM 6552 = Bacillus thuringiensis serovar israelensis	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00122 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00248 (In progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet_006476.htm]	Already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
Pesticides	Bacillus subsp. thuringiensis kurstaki (strains ABTS 351, PB 54, SA11, SA 12, EG 2348) = Bacillus thuringiensis serovar kurstaki	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00123 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00249 (In progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet 006452.htm]	Already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
Pesticides	Bacillus subsp. thuringiensis tenebrionis (strain NB176 (TM 141)) = Bacillus thuringiensis serovar tenebrionis	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00124 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00250 (In progress)	Already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Bifidobacterium animalis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-00169 (In progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00823 (In progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00817 (In progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Bifidobacterium longum	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
GMO	Brevibacterium lactofermentum =Corynebacterium glutamicum	Dried killed biomass for feed	EFSA-Q-2007-157 (Additional data requested)	The recipient species is QPS for production purposes only, but not for this application, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008 opinion)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Clostridium butyricum	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2008-303 The EFSA Journal (2009) 1039, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1211902496474.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00140 EFSA Journal 2011;9(1):1951 [15 pp.]. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1951.htm	No history of use, possible production of botulinum toxins, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008)
FEEDAP	Corynebacterium glutamicum	Production of L- Arginin	EFSA-Q-2006-031 The EFSA Journal (2007) 473, 1-19 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812 1178620781637.htm	QPS status applies only when the species is used for production purposes (EFSA opinion, 2007)
FEEDAP	Corynebacterium glutamicum	Production of L- lysine production	EFSA-Q-2010-01301 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-01036 (in progress)	QPS status applies only when the species is used for production purposes (EFSA opinion, 2007)
FEEDAP	Corynebacterium glutamicum	Production of L- Tryptophan	EFSA-Q-2010-01026 (in progress)	QPS status applies only when the species is used for production purposes (EFSA opinion, 2007)
FEDDAP	Ensifer adhaerens	Production of vitamin B12	Formal mandate still to arrive	Not recommended for the QPS list, QPS 2011 update due to insufficient body of knowledge
FEEDAP	Ensifer fredii	Production of vitamin B12	Formal mandate still to arrive	Not recommended for the QPS list, QPS 2011 update due to insufficient body of knowledge
FEEDAP	Enterococcus faecium	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2003-087 The EFSA Journal (2005) 207, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/207.htm EFSA-Q-2004-001 The EFSA Journal (2004) 51, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/51.htm EFSA-Q-2004-006 The EFSA Journal (2004) 138, 1-7 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/138.htm	No taxonomical unit within <i>Enterococcus</i> can be considered as free of infectious strains. Therefore no recommendation for QPS status (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available (2010).
			EFSA-Q-2004-027 The EFSA Journal (2004) 120, 1-4	



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
	•		www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/120.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2004-096	
			The EFSA Journal (2005) 206, 1-6	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/206.htm	
			EESA O 2005 020	
			EFSA-Q-2005-020 The EFSA Journal (2006) 335, 1-10	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/335.htm	
			www.eisa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/353.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-061	
			The EFSA Journal (2007) 440, 1-9	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/440.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-318	
			EFSA Journal 2009; 7(11):1379	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1379.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-135	
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/912.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-169 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2006-135	
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/912.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-033	
			The EFSA Journal (2007) 521, 1-8	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/521.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-289	
			The EFSA Journal (2009) 990, 1-12	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/990.htm	
			www.cisa.curopa.cu/cii/scuocs/scuoc/990.iitiii	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
			EFSA-Q-2008-471 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2008-422 EFSA Journal 2010; 8(7):1661 [13 pp.]. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1661.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00679 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00969 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00823 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00202 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00070 EFSA Journal 2010; 8(6): 1636 [5 pp.]. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1636.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00009 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00203 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Enterococcus mundtii	Feed additive		No taxonomical unit within <i>Enterococcus</i> can be considered as free of infectious strains. Therefore no recommendation for QPS status (EFSA opinion, 2007)
GMO	Escherichia coli	Dried killed biomasses for feed	EFSA-Q-2008-412a and EFSA-Q-2008-669a (Additional data requested)	QPS 2009, 2010 update. There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Escherichia coli	Dried killed biomasses for feed	EFSA-Q-2008-412b and EFSA-Q-2008-669b (Additional data requested)	QPS 2009, 2010 update. There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Escherichia coli	Feed additive L- threonine production	EFSA-Q-2010-01067 (In progress); EFSA-Q-2010-01034 (In progress); EFSA-Q-2010-1314 (In progress); EFSA-Q-2010-01305 (In progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update. There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Escherichia coli	Feed additive L- tryptophan production	EFSA-Q-2010-01310, (In progress); EFSA-Q-2010-01026 (In progress); EFSA-Q-2010-01306 (In progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update. There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Escherichia coli	Feed additive (horses)	EFSA-Q-2005-167 The EFSA Journal (2009) 989, 1-14 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1211902391773.htm	QPS 2009, 2010 update. There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Eubacterium sp. DSM 11798	Reduce toxicity of mycotoxins	EFSA-Q-2003-052 The EFSA Journal (2005) 169, 1-14 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620782757.htm	No body of knowledge. Already given a negative assessment by FEEDAP. Not appropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
FEEDAP	Ketogulonicigenium vulgare	Production of vitamin C	EFSA-Q-2011-00250 (in progress)	Not recommended for the QPS list, QPS 2011 update due to insufficient body of knowledge
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus acidophilus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2003-115 The EFSA Journal (2004) 119, 1-7 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/119.htm EFSA-Q-2003-055	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			The EFSA Journal (2004) 52, 1-7 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/52.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-135 The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/912.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-377 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus amylolyticus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus amylovorans	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus brevis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2010-01304 (under consideration)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			EFSA-Q-2011-00382 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00385 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacilllus buchneri	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2010-01276	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			EFSA Journal 2011;9(4):2138	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2138.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00375 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00376 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00382 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus bulgaricus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-135	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
	= L. delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus		The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/912.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus casei (note: this species	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00381(in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
	is very rare and its identity might		EESA O 2011 00200 (in mag array)	
FEEDAP	need to be verified) Lactobacillus casei rhamnosus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00390 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00380 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	= Lactobacillus rhamnosus	reed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00380 (III progress)	Alleady QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus cellobiosus	Feed additive		Not initially considered for QPS (see EFSA
FEEDAF	Luciobaciiius ceitobiosus	reed additive		opinions 2007, 2008). QPS recommended 2009,
				2010
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus collinoides	Feed additive		Not initially considered for QPS status (see
				EFSA opinions 2007, 2008). QPS recommended 2009, 2010
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp.	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
	lactis			



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus farciminis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-062	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 771, 1-13	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/771.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2004-177	
			The EFSA Journal (2006) 377, 1-6	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/377.htm	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus fermentum	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus helveticus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-135	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/912.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus mucosae	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus paracasei	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00378 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			EFSA-Q-2011-00387 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus pentosus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00388 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus plantarum	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2010-01164	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
			EFSA Journal 2011;9(3):2113	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2113.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00062	
			EFSA Journal 2011;9(6):2275	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2275.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00125 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00186 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00374 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00377 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00384 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00390 (in progress)	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus reuteri	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2003-010 The EFSA Journal (2005) 229, 1-7 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/229.htm EFSA-Q-2006-169 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus rhamnosus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-062 The EFSA Journal (2008) 771, 1-13 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/771.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00125 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00380 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010) Lactobacillus rhamnosus is recommended for the QPS list, and remains a topic for surveillance.
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus sakei	Feed additive		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactobacillus salivarius	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-169 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00823 (In progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00381 (In progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Lactococcus lactis	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-135 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/912.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-00901 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00373 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-00383 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010) Attention should be focused on human clinical cases without underlying predisposing factors (EFSA, 2011).
2001/122/EC	Leuconostoc mesenteroides	Production of dextran as NF ingredient for bakery industrial and food fermentations		Already QPS (EFSA, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010)
FEEDAP	Leuconostoc oeno = Oenococcus oeni	Feed additive		Not initially considered for QPS (see EFSA opinion 2007, 2008) and recommended for the QPS list in 2009, 2010 (EFSA, 2009; 2010)
FEEDAP	Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides	Feed additive		Not recommended for QPS (see EFSA opinions 2007, Appendix A; 2009; 2010)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Methylococcus capsulatus	Biomass for animal feed	EFSA-Q-2004-171 The EFSA Journal (2005) 230, 1-6 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620784006.htm	No body of knowledge, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA, 2008)
Opinion SCF adopted on 22/06/2000	Paenibacillus macerans	b-cyclodextrin production (food additive)		QPS 2009 update not recommended for QPS because of insufficient body of knowledge. It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA.
FEEDAP	Astaxanthin-rich Paracoccus carotinifaciens	Production of red carotenoids	EFSA-Q-2006-173 The EFSA Journal (2007) 546, 1-30 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178650355146.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00629 EFSA Journal 2010; 8(1):1428 [8 pp.]. www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1428.htm	No body of knowledge, therefore not considered for QPS (EFSA, 2008)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Pediococcus acidilactici	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-169 (in progress)	Already QPS
			EFSA-Q-2007-205 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1037.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-421 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1038.htm	
			EFSA-2009-00719 EFSA Journal 2010;8(7):1660 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1660.htm	
			EFSA-2009-00716 EFSA Journal 2010;8(10):1865 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1865.htm	
			EFSA-2009-00719 EFSA Journal 2010;8(7):1660 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1660.htm	
			EFSA-2009-00716 EFSA Journal 2010;8(10):1865 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1865.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00379 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Pediococcus pentosaceus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2009-00717 EFSA Journal 2010; 8(2):1502 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1502.htm	Already QPS
			EFSA-Q-2011-00386 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Propionibacterium acidipropionici	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2011-00953 (in progress)	Not proposed for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix A). In 2009, 2010 recommended for the QPS list (EFSA, 2009; 2010).



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Propionibacterium freudenreichii shermanii	Feed additive		Already QPS
FEEDAP	Propionibacterium freudenreichii shermanii	Production of vitamin B12	Formal mandate still to arrive	Already QPS
FEEDAP	Propionibacterium globosum [=subspecies of Propionibacterium freudenreichii]	Feed additive		Not recommended for QPS (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix A). Identical with <i>P. freudenreichii</i> therefore included on QPS (EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Pseudomonas sp. DSMZ 13134	Plant Protection Product	Draft Assessment Report: no further info on the species. It is considered as a new species within the RNA-group I-pseudomonads. No EFSA question number yet.	Not assessed because species to be clarified (EFSA, 2009)
Pesticides	Pseudomonas chlororaphis	Plant Protection Product	EFSA-Q-2008-618 [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet_006478.htm]	Not recommended for QPS in QPS 2009 update because of insufficient body of knowledge and a potential risk linked to production of secondary metabolites. It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA.
FEEDAP	Rhodopseudomonas palustris	Feed additive		Insufficient body of knowledge (EFSA 2009). It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA.
FEEDAP	Serratia rubidaea	Feed additive		Insufficient body of knowledge (EFSA 2009). It will no longer be assessed for the QPS list unless new notification to EFSA.
FEEDAP	Streptococcus cremoris = L. lactis subsp. cremoris	Feed additive		Already QPS



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Streptococcus faecium = Enterococcus faecium	Feed additive		No taxonomical unit within <i>Enterococcus</i> can be considered as free of infectious strains. Therefore no recommendation for QPS status (EFSA opinion, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010). There is increasing evidence of pathogenicity, and this species will not longer be assessed unless new scientific information becomes available.
FEEDAP	Streptococcus thermophilus	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2006-135 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/912.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00071 (in progress)	Already QPS
FEEDAP	Streptomyces albus	Production of salinomycin sodium	EFSA-Q-2003-009 The EFSA Journal (2008) 912, 1-13 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783414.htm	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
FEEDAP	Streptomyces aureofaciens	Production of polyether monocarboxylic acid	EFSA-Q-2003-046 The EFSA Journal (2004), 90, 1-44 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812 1178620783396.htm	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
FEEDAP	Streptomyces cinnamonensis	Production of monensin sodium	EFSA-Q-2005-024 The EFSA Journal (2004), 42, 1-61 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783743.htm	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
Pesticides	Now unspecified <i>Streptomyces</i> species: ' <i>Streptomyces</i> strain K 61' Formerly: <i>Streptomyces griseoviridis</i>	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00134 (In progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00295 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/pesticides/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet_129069.htm]	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion, 2008)
FEEDAP	Streptomyces lasaliensis	Production of lasalocid sodium	EFSA-Q-2004-076 The EFSA Journal (2004) 77, 1-45 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783432.htm	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
Pesticides	Streptomyces lydicus strain WYEC 108 (ATCC 55445)	Plant protection product	No Draft Assessment Report received – no EFSA Question yet.	Streptomyces spp. produce antibiotics, are therefore inappropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008).
	Yeasts			
Pesticides	Aureobasidium pullulans strains DSM 14940 and DSM 14941	Plant Protection Product	EFSA-Q-2010-01499 (in progress)	Body of knowledge insufficient (QPS 2009 update)
FEEDAP	Candida glabrata	Feed additive		Unsuitable for QPS (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix C)
FEEDAP	Candida guilliermondi	Fermentation product	EFSA-Q-2003-082 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/68.htm	Unsuitable for QPS (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix C)
Pesticides	Candida oleophila strain O	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00338 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet 021008.htm]	Body of knowledge insufficient, therefore not appropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
FEEDAP	Hansenula polymorpha = Pichia angusta	Production of enzymes	EFSA-Q-2005-030 The EFSA Journal (2006) 333, 1-27 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812 1178620769671.htm	Already QPS status applies only when species is used for production purposes (EFSA opinion 2008, 2010)
2148/2004/E C	Kluyveromyces marxianus var. lactisKl	Feed additive	_	Already QPS
Reg(EC)773/2 006 Corrigendum CS	Kluyveromyces marxianus-fragilis	Feed additive		Already QPS
FEEDAP	Astaxanthin rich Phaffia rhodozyma = Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous	Production of astaxanthin	EFSA-Q-2004-148 The EFSA Journal (2004) 43, 1-4 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783707.htm EFSA-Q-2003-112 The EFSA Journal (2004) 43, 1-4 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783707.htm	Phaffia rhodozyma was assessed not appropriate for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008) because of insufficient body of knowledge. Later recommended for the QPS list (EFSA, 2011) as it is the imperfect form of Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous according to the 2011 revision of the yeast taxonomy.



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Komagaella pastoris = Pichia pastoris	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q_2006-025 (GMM) www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/627.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2009-00804: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1550.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00152 (GMM, additional data request) EFSA-Q-2011-00148 (in progress)	
			Other applications: EFSA-Q-2010-00152 (GMM, in progress)	
FEEDAP	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Organic selenium source	EFSA-Q-2005-071 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/348.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2005-117 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/430.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-381 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/992.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00524 EFSA Journal 2011;9(6):2279 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2279.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00752 EFSA Journal 2011;9(4):2110 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2110.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01029 (in progress)	
FEEDAP	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2005-224 and EFSA-Q-2009-00534 (GMM, in progress)	
FEEDAP	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2005-025 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/384.htm	Already QPS (EFSA Opinions 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010).



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
	(current taxonomy where different)			
			EFSA-Q-2005-234	
			The EFSA Journal (2006) 385, 1-9	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/385.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2005-149	
			The EFSA Journal (2006) 321, 1-8	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/321.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2005-176	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/370.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-003	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/379.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2006-067	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/459.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-104	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/585.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-139	
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 772, 1-11	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/772.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-165	
			EFSA Journal 2009; 7(10):1353	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1353.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-009	
			The EFSA Journal (2009) 991, 1-14	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/991.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-010	
			The EFSA Journal (2008) 837, 1-10	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/837.htm	



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
			EFSA-Q-2008-302	
			The EFSA Journal (2009) 970, 1-9	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/970.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-472	
			The EFSA Journal (2009) 1040, 1-7	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1040.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00720	
			EFSA Journal 2010;8(10):1864	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1864.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00753	
			EFSA Journal 2010;8(7):1659	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1662.htm	
			-	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00818 (In progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2009-00824	
			EFSA Journal 2010;8(7):1662	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1662.htm	
			-	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00938 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00936 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00992	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2173.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2011-00390 (in progress)	
GMO	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Dried killed	EFSA-Q-2007-156b (under consideration)	
		biomass for feed	EFSA-Q-2009-00866 (Waiting for full dossier)	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Schizosaccharomyces pombe	Production of enzymes	EFSA-Q-2005-063 The EFSA Journal (2006) 350, 1-14 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620769568.htm EFSA-Q-2005-080 The EFSA Journal (2006) 404, 1-20 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620782208.htm EFSA-Q-2008-272 The EFSA Journal (2006) 350, 1-14 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620769568.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00835 (in progress)	Already QPS (EFSA Opinions 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010).
	Fungi		El Sil Q 2011 00055 (m progress)	
Pesticides	Ampelomyces quisqualis	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-489 (in progress)	Not recommended for the QPS list, QPS 2011 update
FEEDAP	Ashbya gossypii	Production of vitamin B2	Formal mandate still to arrive (GMM)	Not recommended for the QPS list, QPS 2011 update
FEEDAP	Aspergillus aculeatus	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2008-432: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1186.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00035: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2010.htm EFSA-Q-2010-01297 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-01295(in progress)	Potential for mycotoxin production, therefore not suitable for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Aspergillus niger	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2009-00585 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00534 (in progress)	Potential for mycotoxin production, therefore not suitable for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
FEEDAP	Aspergillus niger	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2004-068 (GMM) www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/198.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2006-119 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/474.htm EFSA-Q-2008-418 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1155.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00147 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2005-116 (GMM) The EFSA Journal (2006) 369, 1-19 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/369.pdf and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2007-049: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/472.htm EFSA-Q-2007-041: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/544.htm EFSA-Q-2007-189: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/614.htm EFSA-Q-2008-692: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1184.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00603: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1427.htm EFSA-Q-2008-013 (GMM)	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/914.htm and related Questions: EFSA-Q-2010-00937 EFSA Journal 2011;9(5):2172 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2172.htm EFSA-Q-2010-01519 (in progress) FAD-2010-0367 (formal mandate to arrive) EFSA-Q-2011-00061 (in progress)	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Aspergillus oryzae	Production of Enzymes	EFSA-Q-2003-012 (GMM): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/66.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2004-070: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/88.htm	Potential for mycotoxin production, therefore not suitable for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
			EFSA-Q-2006-060: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/519.htm EFSA-Q-2007-132:	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/132.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00535: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/535.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-133 (GMM): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/871.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2008-430:	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1097.htm EFSA-Q-2009-00536: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1634.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-419 (GMM, in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00769 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01519 (GMM, in progress)	
FEEDAP	Aspergillus oryzae	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2009-00525 (in progress)	Potential for mycotoxin production, therefore not suitable for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Beauveria bassiana (ATCC-74040 and GHA)	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00125 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00251 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet_128818.htm www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients /factsheets/factsheet_128924.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
Pesticides	Beauveria brongniartii	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00017 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS. Insufficient body of knowledge, potential oosporein formation (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
ACF (as mentioned in the register of questions)	Blakeslea trispora	Production of lycopene (food colorant) Production of b-carotene (food colorant)	EFSA-Q-2004-102 The EFSA Journal (2005) 275, 1-17 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620764493.htm EFSA-Q-2007-001 The EFSA Journal (2008) 674, 1-66 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178700117557.htm	Can not be proposed for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Blakeslea trispora	Production strain for beta- carotene	EFSA-Q-2009-00884 (in progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update
NDA	Blakeslea trispora	Food ingredient	EFSA-Q-2004-169 The EFSA Journal (2005) 212, 1-29 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620765774.htm EFSA-Q-2008-697 The EFSA Journal (2008) 893, 1-15 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1211902228574.htm	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Coniothyrium minitans	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-515 (in progress) [Review report for the active substance Coniotyrium minitans, SANCO/1400/2001-final, July 2003] [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet_028836.htm]	The body of knowledge is insufficient. Potential acrosphelide formation (EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Duddingtonia flagrans Alternative name: Trichothecium flagrans	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2004-115 The EFSA Journal (2006) 334, 1-8 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale- 1178620753812_1178620783270.htm EFSA-Q-2005-051 under consideration	Insufficient body of knowledge (EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Gliocladium catenulatum = Clonostachys rosea forma catenulata strain J1446	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-559 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/pesticides/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_021009.htm]	No recommendation for QPS in 2009 (EFSA, 2009). No new relevant information in the 2010 update.
Pesticides	Lecanicillium muscarium Formerly Verticillium lecanii strain Ve6	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00130 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00255 (finalized on 18/12/2009) Conclusion on the peer review (2009): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1446.htm	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Metarhizium anisopliae var. Anisopliae formerly M. anisopliae	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00131 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00253 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Paecilomyces fumosoroseus strain FE 9901 (ARSEF 4490)	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-599 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00323 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet 115002.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Penicillium funiculosum	Production of Enzyme	EFSA-Q-2005-281 (GMM) www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/471.htm EFSA-Q-2010-01287 in progress) EFSA-Q-2011-0026 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Paecilomyces lilacinus strain 251	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-600 (finalized on 13/06/2007) Conclusion on the peer review (2007): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/103r.htm [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_028826.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS. Potential for production of peptaibols (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
Pesticides	Phlebiopsis gigantean 14 different strains	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00132 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00285 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS. Insufficient body of knowledge (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Pseudozyma flocculosa strain ATCC 64874	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00315 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet 119196.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Pythium oligandrum M1	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00133 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00287 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredient s/factsheets/factsheet 028816.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS. Insufficient body of knowledge (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma asperellum strain T-34	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2011-00899	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma asperellum strains ICC 012, T11 and TV1	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00136 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma atroviride I-1237	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2011-00900	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma atroviride IMI 206040 and T11	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00137 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00297 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma harzianum Rifai (strains T22 and ITEM 908)	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00139 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00298 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet 128902.htm]	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Trichoderma longibrachiatum	Feed additive		Ineligible for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA	Genus and species of	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion	Comments
Panel/Unit	microorganism as notified		[additional information]	
	(current taxonomy where different)			
FEEDAP	Trichoderma longibrachiatum	Production of	EFSA-Q-2005-276	Ineligible for QPS status (see EFSA opinion
		Enzyme	www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/405.htm	2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
			and related opinion:	
			EFSA-Q-2006-320:	
			www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/520.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2008-288 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00036 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01025 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01295 (in progress)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-01297 (in progress)	
			FAD-2010-0367 (formal mandate to arrive)	
Pesticides	Trichoderma polysporum	Plant protection	EFSA-Q-2009-00140 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not
	strain IMI 206039	product	EFSA-Q-2009-00299 (in progress)	appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA,
				2009; EFSA, 2010)
			[www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/	
			ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_128902.htm]	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
		Production of enzyme	[additional information] EFSA-Q-2006-137 (GMM) www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/548.htm and related opinions: EFSA-Q-2007-0020: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1156.htm EFSA-Q-2007-109: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/586.htm EFSA-Q-2007-112: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1154.htm EFSA-Q-2007-185 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00470: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1949.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00141: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1916.htm	Ineligible for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
			EFSA-Q-2009-00802: EFSA Journal 2011;9(2):2008 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2008.htm	
			EFSA-Q-2007-120 (GMM) www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/712.htm and related question: EFSA-Q-2010-00142 (additional data request)	
			EFSA-Q-2010-00142 EFSA Journal 2011;9(6):2277 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2277.htm	



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
FEEDAP	Trichoderma reesei	Production of enzyme	EFSA-Q-2010-00018 (additional data request) EFSA-Q-2008-432: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1186.htm EFSA-Q-2008-748 (GMM): www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1380.htm and related opinon: EFSA-Q-2010-0069 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1553.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00112 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2111.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00141: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1916.htm EFSA-Q-2010-00700: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1919.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00035: www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2010.htm EFSA-Q-2011-00804 (in progress)	Ineligible for QPS status (see EFSA opinion 2007, Appendix D; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Trichoderma viride	Production of enzyme	EFSA-Q-2010-01295 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2010-01297 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
Pesticides	Trichoderma viride =Trichoderma gamsii strains ICC 080, T25 and TV1	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00138 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00300 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)



EFSA Panel/Unit	Genus and species of microorganism as notified (current taxonomy where different)	Intended use	EFSA question number and published opinion [additional information]	Comments
Pesticides	Verticillium albo-atrum formerly Verticillium dahliae	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00141 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00303 (in progress)	Mycelial fungi: already considered as not appropriate for QPS. Potential production of alboatrin (see EFSA, 2007; EFSA, 2009; EFSA, 2010)
FEEDAP	Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans	Feed additive	EFSA-Q-2010-01030 (The application has been withdrawn)	Not recommended for the QPS list, assessed in the current 2011 update
	Algae			
FEEDAP	Haematococcus pluvialis	Production of astaxanthin		No body of knowledge except for this strain. Therefore not considered for QPS (EFSA opinion 2008)
	Bacteriophages			
FEEDAP	Clostridium sporogenes phage	Feed additive		QPS 2009, 2010 updates
FEEDAP	Clostridium tyrobutyricum phage	Feed additive		QPS 2009, 2010 updates
	Viruses			
Pesticides	Adoxophyes orana Granulovirus strain BV-0001	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00324 (in progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Cydia pomonella granulovirus Mexican isolate	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00126 (in progress) EFSA-Q-2009-00254 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_107300.htm]	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Helicoverpa armigera nucleopolyhedrovirus	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00341 (in progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Spodoptera exigua nuclear polyhedrosis virus	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2008-630 (in progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Spodoptera littoralis nucleopolyhedrovirus	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00507 (in progress)	QPS 2009, 2010 update
Pesticides	Zucchini yellow mosaic virus, weak strain	Plant protection product	EFSA-Q-2009-00346 (in progress) [www.epa.gov/opp00001/biopesticides/ingredients/factsheets/factsheet_244201.htm]	QPS 2009, 2010 update

Glossary

Yeast Synonyms commonly used in the feed/food industry

Wickerhamomyces anomalus: synonym Hansenula anomala, Pichia anomola, Saccharomyces anomalus

Pichia jadinii: anamorph Candida utilis; synonyms Hansenula jadinii, Torulopsis utilis Saccharomyces cerevisiae synonym S. boulardii

Saccharomyces pastorianus: synonym of Saccharomyces carlsbergensis

Komagataella pastoris: synonym Pichia pastoris



- EFSA 2007 Opinion: Introduction of a Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) approach for assessment of selected microorganisms referred to EFSA Opinion of the Scientific Committee). The EFSA Journal, 2007, 587, 1–16 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa locale-1178620753812 1178667590178.htm
- EFSA 2008 Opinion: The maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Biological Hazards (Question number: EFSA-Q-2008-006). The EFSA Journal, 2008, 923, 1 48 www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa_locale-1178620753812_1211902221481.htm
- EFSA 2009 Opinion: Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS microorganisms intentionally added to food or feed (2009 update) (Question number: EFSA-Q-2009-00459) EFSA Journal 2009, 7, 12, 1431 www.efsa.europa.eu/en/scdocs/scdoc/1431.htm
- EFSA, 2010 Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ) Scientific Opinion on the maintenance of the list of QPS biological agents intentionally added to food or feed (2010 update). EFSA J. 8(12), 1944 [56 pp.] doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1944. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal.htm